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Preface 

This m u s c r i p t  is  the product of a tape-recorded i n t e ~ e w  conducted by 
Colleen R. Ogg for the Oral History Office, Sangarnon State University i n  
September 1984. Colleen Oeg also transcribed the tapes and edited the 
transcript.  Jean Yntema rw iewd  the transcript.  

Mrs. Y n t m  was born i n  Urbana, I l l ino i s  i n  1898. She ms graduated from 
the University of I l l ino i s  in 1920, and taught school at Crossnore, South 
Carolina. Mter  returning t o  Urbana, she married konard Y n t m  in  1923, 
and they have three children. In chis m i r  she discusses her family's 
history, the banking Ixlsiness, the history of Qmnpaign County, family l i f e  
a t  the turn of the century, tm m r a b l e  t r ips  to  Europe (1908 and 1920), 
the Depression, and her interest in conversation. 

Colleen Ogg has always lived in the Springfield area. She is married and 
has tw adult children. After k i n g  away from school for  th i r ty  years, she 
returned to  Sangarmn State as a pa r t - t he  student and received a B.A. i n  
Literature i n  1983. From 1983 t o  1985 she was the Graduate Assistant in  
the History Program, and was graduated with a M.A. in Public History in 1985. 

Readers of this oral  history m i r  should bear i n  mind that  it i s  a 
transcript of the spoken mrd ,  and that the intenrimer,  narrator and editor 
sought t o  preserve the informal, conversational s ty le  that  is inherent in 
such historical  sources. Sangamon State University i s  not: responsible for  
the factual accuracy of the rnemir, nor for  the views expressed therein; 
these are  for the reader t o  judge. 

The m u s c r i p t  may be read, quoted and cited freely. It may not be reproduced 
in tihole or  in  part by any means, electronic o r  mechanical, without permission 
in  writing from the O r a l  History Office, Sangarnon State University, 
Springfield, I l l ino i s ,  62708. 



Jean Yntema, September 25, 1984, Springfield, ~ l l i n o i s .  

Colleen Ogg , I n t e ~ e w r  . 

Q. Nrs. Yntana, I am going to  s t a r t  out with asking you a b u t  your 
family background. You are from mampaign, so can you tell me something 
about your family? 

A. k11, f i r s t  of a l l  I am definitely from Urbana. 

Q. Sorry. (laughter) 

A. And you should haw there has always been a rivalry there. So many 
tirres--several times anyhow, people have t r ied  t o  get the tm towns 
together. Generally these are  people &o have come from far away to  the 
University and they thirk it wuld be mch mre efficient i f  the governmRnt 
of the tm toms e r e  the same. Always those attempts have k e n  voted 
dom, neither t o m  liking the idea. 

Q. A l l  right, I'll s t a r t  over and ask about your family background i n  
Urbana. Can you t e l l  me how long your family has been there? 

A. I believe you just  told m that in looking up the records, my great- 
grandfather care i n  1829 and as I ramher the family t a l es ,  he c- from 
Indiana and--or through Indiana a t  any rate--and the family had lived for 
a while in Kentucky. And I believe i n  Kentucky there is  a cemtery with 
a number of h e y  graves in it and the family had come from Maryland 
before that .  And according to  the genealogy that: one cousin looked up, 
he traced the family back to a Busey tho came from Fqlancl to America and 
I can't tell you the date, f a i r l y  early. I believe it was a Paul Busey 
and he also found that: there was a Paul Busey that had lef t  Eslgland a b u t  
the saw time, and he could trace that person's ancestry back t o  France. 
But he never m s  able to prove that t:he Paul Rusey who left: England was 
the sarw Paul Busey that  he found in  the United States. 

Q. Now, the b e y  that  came in  1829 was your great-grandfather? 

A. Matthew %les Busey. 

Q. And your father 's  name? 

A.  George b e y .  George W. hscy , and the "W' doesn't stand for  anything. 
You'd think it might bc George Mshington bt it wasn't. But he was named 
for somebody that he didn't  like when he grew up, and so he put a different 
i n i t i a l  in there because his brothers had 'W's for  middle i n i t i a l s .  
( laughs 
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Q. That's like Harry S. Truman. The "S" stood for  nothing. 

A. The "S" stood for  nothing? I didn' t  know that .  

Q. Your family was in banking? The Buseys =re i n  banking? 

A. kll yes, of course originally in farming. They were fortunate 
en- to have gotten in on the days then they could take up a farm and 
=re wise enough to retain the i r  acreage for  quite a wlzile. But, just  
what their interests =re other than farming a t  f i r s t  I don't know. They 
se t t led  along the Boneyard which is a l i t t le  stream that  flows through 
&ampaign and Urbana, and that was the natural thing for  m y  of the 
se t t l e r s  because there was water and there was mod and these prair ies  
looked pretty desolate. And I think many of the pioneers f e l t  that since 
they didn't  have any trees on them they muldn 't: be very fertile. My 
grandfather, Matthew kles  Busey, had a cabin--a log cabin--and I think I 
barely remember: that that s a m  building used to  stand in  Crystal Lake 
Park, Urbana h e n  I was a child. But it was eventually vandalized and is 
gone, vhich is a l i t t le  too bad, along with other pioneer cabins that 
muld have been interesting. 

The story is and I think there are different versions of it so how true 
it is I don't know, that when the c d s s i o n  that  decides such things was 
surveying and deciding where the courthouse fo r  the county should k, 
that  the i r  f i r s t  choice was samewhat: farther north than Urbana. But nry 
grandfather persuaded them to  c m ~  down for  overnight at  h i s  cabin and he 
was said t o  have made kt ter  whiskey than the other f e l l o w  and they 
decided to put the courthouse not f a r  f r m  h i s  cabin in  Urbana. 

Q. Now what date wuld  that be? 

A. I haven' t the sl ightest  idea, and how true the story i s  I don't know. 
( laughs 

A. The t o m  was named, and I don't know why, for  Urbana, Qlampaign 
County, Ohio. 

Q. Oh, that's interesting. I didn't  know there was one. 

In reading the Histouy of Q l q a i g n  County, there was a Simn H. Busey 
and a Same1 T. h s e y  . 
A. Simon H. Busey. 

Q. Right, Simeon. They =re connected with the First National Rank 
and started the Busey Bank i n  1867. You're a l l  related? 

A. Yes, Sinaeon H. Busey, Simeon Harrison Busey--which I suppose must 
date him sa~what because President Harrison probably had s a w  connection 
with that--Sirneon H. Ehsey was my grandfather, one of the sons of Matthew 
&les Busey. And one of his brothers was Samuel Busey, Samuel T. Busey. 
I didn't  know abut the connection with the First National Bank.  
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Q. Simeon was one of the organizers of the F i r s t  National Bank. And then 
he and his brother broke away and started the Busey Bank i n  1867. This 
was several years later,  so I don't know then the f i r s t  one was . . . 
A. I didn't know that. They started the Busey Barik i n  Urbana and that 
was in the  bclilding which is now a mvie thearre on Main Srreet i n  Urbana. 
And I can remember when there were big heavy rocking chairs, moden 
rocking chairs, that sac out on the sidewalk in front of that Ixlilding 
where the old men, pioneers of the tom, could sit and watch the horses 
and kggies go down Main Street. 

Q. In f r a t  of the bank? 

A. In front of the bank on the sidewalk. In good e a t h e r  I suppose. 

Q. Courtesy of the bank? 

A. my, I should hope so. 

Q. Now, Simeon H. Busey was also a representative in  the 30th General 
Assembly. Right? 

A. Right. 

Q. And he was i n s t m n t a l  i n  locating the U of I a t  Qlmpaign--or 
Urbna? 

A. Yes. 

Q. And also i n s t m n t a l  in building the Peoria and Eastern Railroad. 

A. That I didn't know. The Peoria-Eastem Elailroad went  through . . . 
Rantoul? No. &1, dear, I can't think of the tom, another tom. A town 
east of Rantoul, &cause I was just told by a Qlaqaign man recently--who 
was very interested in the history of the town--that this tom--that it 
was on that railroad that S ~ o n  Busey had farm land. And there's a 
story about the  railroad going chmugh his land. I suppose it was open 
range-- I don't h o w  how mch fencing there was in those days--ht anyhow 
he cqlained that: the freight cars caning through rhere =re not careful 
enough--I believe there were no cowatchers and apparently cowatcher 
really m e a n t  smthing  , that name--and his catt le had been hir. And 
after several complaints rhere was nothing done about it, so he told his 
boys KO go and k i l d  a barrier across that railroad and just l e t  them 
know that they =re going to hit sclmzthing there. And ordinarily the 
boys w d d  have plt up a few rai ls  of some sort and finish the job as 
quickly as possible and go on about samething else, but that was just the 
time they decided to do it ~ 1 1 .  They built it quite s turd i ly  so that 
the train was derailed. There was a lawsuit a b u t  it and I don't know 
h a t  the outcax ws (laughs) but there was no more trouble with the lack 
of comatchers or whatever it was. 

Q. I'll kt not. Ww the cowcatcher i s  the mtal frame on the front of 
the engine--ht what did it do, it really didn't catch cows? 
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A. I wouldn' t think so. You ' 11 have to ask somebody else what: the real 
derivation of that K~~ cowatcher is. 

Q. I honestly don't know. Now &at year E r e  you born? mat's your 
birthdate? 

A. July 16, 1898. 

Q. And I would be interested in knowing what downtom Q l q a i g n  or 
domtom Urbana looked like then. Can you rtlseember as a child what . . . 
A. Yes, a great deal of the main street as I remember it was quite a lot  
of it as it i s  now. A s  I say, there was that mvie house there which was 
the f i r s t  Busey Bank Building. 

Q. Do you hnm h t  the name of the mvie theatre is? 

A. I think it was a t  one time the Princess Theatre, whether or not i t ' s  
that s t i l l  or not I don't know. And along that block on the north side 
of the street, there was Sol Ryman's Confectionery h i c h  was beloved by 
us youngsters. And the old fashioned sort of ice cream parlor with the 
chairs, with the curved m t a l  back . . . 
Q. Ice cream chairs. 

A. Yes. Yes ,  I remmber that there. I don't how what was on the-- 
well, l e t ' s  begin over a t  one end of that block. A t  the east end of it 
was the courthouse, the courthouse square. A t  the =st end of i t l  was the 
intersection of &in Street and Race Street. And later,  the bank that I 
really ranember w11 was bilt on the southmst corner of that intersection 
and was the same bank lxilding that was there until a very short tim ago 
when a new building . . . 
Q. That's the lovely new building that you saw not long ago. 

A. And a t  the corner of--I don't know how to explain it--the entrance t o  
the bank hi lding was atl the corner i t se l f ,  so that the door set  back a 
l i t t l e  ways from the sidewalk, leaving a l i t t l e  space in there where one 
could set up some camp chairs. And those chairs =re spread out onto the 
sidewalk and vie muld go down every other Saturday night to hear the 
local band concert. The mhlsicians =re local people d o  played out a t  
that intersection and I believe the alternate Saturday nights they 'd play 
down a t  the other end of the block, a t  the courthouse grounds. 

Q. L h n  you mt down to the tom you walked? 

A. M course, our home was only about three blocks from it,  three blocks 
*st of it on Elm Street. One of my uncles wfio was at that tine the 
president of l3usey Bank--that muld be a son, one of the sons of the 
founder--lived halfway betwen on Elm Street. I remember Mr. Jake's 
house xhich was quite near the street. It had a very high curb which rn 
youngsters used t o  like walking, of course. And now a t  the comer of Race 
and Elm Streets is the Urbana Library and the library has I believe recently 
bought the lot just =st  of it including a nice old brick house which I 
think they plan t o  keep . . . 
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Q. Oh, good. 

A. And they have put in there or  somebody has put--I think the Garden 
Club of Urbana probably--has put i n  a mst interesting, excellent herb 
garden. 

Q. I'm so glad to  hear you say keep. I thought you were going t o  say 
which they're going t o  tear dom. 

A. No, I think they appreciate it. 

Q. Did you l ive  in the Isaac Busey house? 

A. No. 

Q. Because that is  the oldest house in the county. 

A. I didn't  know that, Ih you have an address? 

Q. No, kt I ' l l  go back to  the l ibrary and f ind one. It was in  that 
history that I read. 

A. I ' d  l ike  ro h a w  here that is. 

Q. It was on Elm. I ranember that .  There was a picture of it and it 
was on Elm Street.  

A. Under i f  it could be t h i s  house the l ibrary bought? I don't know. 
I knew it by another narne which I now have forgotten but it could have 
been Isaac Busey ' s  f i rs t ,  I don' t know. 

Q. 503 bs t  Elm. 

A. No, no, no. That was my haw. 

Q. Okay, we11 ih Isaac Busey home was a different address. I ' ll go back 
and look that up. The George Busey house i s  at  503 @st Elm and was 
buil t  about 1860 or  1865? And George Busey bought it i n  1893. 

A. It was bought in 1893. I don't h o w  when it was hilt. Smbody a t  
the University made quite a survey of old houses in  Urbana and I rememkr 
seeing a newspaper a r t i c l e  about that in which he said that my m t h e r  
remembered seeing that house &en she was a g i r l  v is i t ing  in Urbana. But 
I can't t e l l  you what the date was. 

Q. k11, t h i s  history that I got t h i s  information from you'll  remember 
was 1878 so . . . 
A. It says the house was--oh, the history was--oh from Cunni"ghami s 
history? 

Q. Yes. And he says it was the oldest huse in. . . 
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A .  m h a t n  said that:? Judge Cunningham? 

Q. Yes.  

A. k 1 1 ,  I expect he knew. I can remember Judge Cunningham, he lived on 
Green Street. Now, my fa ther ' s  house at  503 Wst Elm Street: was the eas t  
half of a block of graund so that: it had an entrance both on E lm Street 
and on the parallel s t r ee t  south of it, on Green Street,  it m l d  be 506 
k s t  Green Street. And Judge Cunningham lived on Green Street--oh, a 
couple of blocks, tw or  three blocks viest of there. I can remember 
being impressed as a child by the fact that he had hilt on the back of 
h i s  house a fireproof room for  his Lincoln library--books about Lincoln. 
He was quite a Lincoln scholar. Judge Cunningham and his wife had lived 
east of t o m  i n  a very a t t rac t ive  old farrhouse, doubtless is t o m  down 
now, a i c h  they gave to  probably the Methodist Church--& Pkthodist 
&ildrenls Ikaconness H m .  It eventually became a tuberculosis 
sanitarium. I don't know &at it is  now. 

Q. That was the CunnFngham horne. 

A. Yes. 

Q. But the George Busey house a t  503 W s t  Elm was l a t e r  the Baha'i . . . 
A. Baha'i. 

Q. Center. 

A.  Yes. My s i s t e r ,  Garreta Busey, was a Baha'i and my daughter is  a 
Baha'i, and when my sister died in 1976 she willed the house t o  the 
Baha'i. 

Q. Is it s t i l l  being used? 

A. Yes. 

Q. That's vmnderf-ul. k e n  you e r e  a child how did you dress? tha t  did 
you w a r ?  For Sunday and also for  play? 

A. Can't remember too ell  except I do resnember that playing araund the 
neighborhood and going walking domtom m youngsters of the neighborhood 
went barefoot mst of the time in the smrtime. And walking down the 
sidewalks to  the domtown of Urbana--which wre brick sidewalks--= 
enjoyed turning our fee t  out to  match the brick pattern. 

Q. (laughs) S ~ E  things never change. 

A. Saw things never change. And that I rgnemlxr in the wintertime 
rushing fran the bedroom which w usually kept cold--probably with a 
window open also--into the next roan t o  lean up against the radiator and 
pull the long black stockings up over the long undemar  legs. Thatl was 
something of a chore. 
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Q. And Lry not to  get: lumps i n  them. 

A. (laughter) That's right.  I don't: seem to  remember mch else about 
clothes. 

Q. k w  many were in  your jmmediate family? 

A. My sister, Garreta. G-A-R-K-E-T-A was f ive  years older than I. bk =re 
the only t m  surviving siblings. k had had an older bro~her, born 1891, 
who died a day or  ttm short of his first:  birthday with diptheria as so 
many children did in t:hose days. ?he diptheria epidemics wt: have been 
very hard. In fact I remember hearing my father say--just after my f i r s t  
child was born--outside the door, Wow, K i t , "  addressing my mther known 
as Kit, "you see tlhat that child gets diptheria serum." Now that was a 
sore point a l l  those years. 

My mthe r ' s  good friend, as close as  a sister, was Mrs. Henry Dmlap tjho 
lived a t  Savoy. Henry Dunlap was a s t a t e  senator. Savoy is a h t  f ive 
miles south of us, south of Champaign. And *en try brother was a lmst  
one year old my mther  took him down to  stay overnight with her friend, 
Nora Dunlap--show off the baby--and it was a f a i r l y  long bggy r ide,  the 
f ive miles, in those days. That afternoon a friend cam in with a child, 
an older child, who had a cold. And in  ha rever  was t:he appropriate time 
a f t e r  tha t ,  ,my mther's son was dead of diptheria and tw, I believe, of 
the Dunlaps children. Tne child who had come in had diptheria without 
anyone knowing it. He survived I believe. That was the sor t  of thing 
that  happened apparent:ly with diptheria in those days. 

Q. Did ycru have any bad childhood diseases? 

A, Yes, I had them a l l .  (laughter) I had them a l l  md I had them hard. 
My sister wuld care home from school with a rash of sornc sor t  and be 
confined to home for  t:, or  three days. I would get scar le t  fever or 
masles  or whatever it was and k in bed for  a rmnth. 

Q. But neither you nor your sister had diptheria? 

Q. Now was there a vaccine . . . 
A. No, the diptheria vaccine was mch la te r  than that  I 'rn sure. 

Q. G11, you just  happened to  not be exposed t o  it I guess. 

A. I suppose so and when I was in bed with measles or  scarlet  fever-- 
those two I seem to ranember--the house was quarantined in those days. 
There muld be a sign on the house i n  red letsters or  a red sign saying, 
"Quarantine," and nobody came i n  except doctors or  excepted people and my 
father stayed at: hom3. 

Q. Did not go t o  mrk? 
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A. No. If he had gone to  mrk he wu ld  have gone t o  l i ve  somplace else. 

Q. Oh. 

A. That: was the c m n  thing in those days. 

Q. So you had groceries brought to  the door or  something . . . 
A. Clh, groceries =re brought t o  the door i n  those days although * 
lived only a few blocks from domtom. O f  course the grocer and the meat 
market m - - a n d  neat markets =re separate from groceries i n  those days-- 
muld deliver. You'd telephone if you wanted ten cents w r t h  of meat and 
it m l d  be delivered. 

Q. Things =re different.  

A. Oh, things are different.  Tnings are supposed to be so much simpler 
now Eur: real ly it takes the housewife m r e  t h  than it did then. (laughs) 

Q. &en you =re small did your m the r  have help with the house--it 
sounds l ike  a large house? 

A. Yes ,  and she had particularly good help. Apparently--it mst have 
been for  sarne mnths before I was born--she had had di f f icul ty  with whatever 
help it was and a young g i r l ,  probably wasn't mre than 16 o r  17 years 
old, frm a German farm family i n  Iowa, c aw  asking for  a job--Minnie 
Elsmiller . And f innie  , till the l a s t  day I knew her, s t i l l  spoke with a 
l i t t l e  Gem accent. And my mther  said, "Wll,  i f  you'll stay till 
this child is  born and till she is  ten years old, I 'll try you out." And 
she did. 

Q. @ i t e  a trial period, wasn't it? 

A. And Minnie was mch beloved and I was brought up t o  c a l l  her Minnie 
Marna and was very fond of Minnie. Minnie was very good to rne. 

I was born in a domstairs bedroam which is now what yout re talking about 
for  kindergarten and my mother's nurse was Myra Burt who lived a t  that 
t h  w i t h  the aunt who brought her up across the street--across Green 
Street. And Aunt Myra as she l a t e r  k c a m  took the baby across the 
l i t t l e  enclosed back porch to  the k i~chen  and told Minnie, this young 
g i r l ,  to  watch her and put her on the door of the open men to  keep her 
warm while she wnt back t o  look after my mother. And I guess Minnie 
took care of rn ever af ter .  

Q. Yes. Now this nurse was not: a midwife? 

A. No, no she was a trained nurse, trained in Chicago. 

Q. &It there was also a doctor? 

A. Yes, there was a doctor--and perhaps I could remember the doctor's 
name--ht it doesn't matter anyhow. I guess he was a nice enough old 
chap Irut I can remember both Minnie and me being concerned if he--I 
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believe he mved t o  another town later--if  he e r e  back in  town, he 
always came to  visit. From the kitchen window you could see anybody 
caning up the f rom walk from Elm Street and w wuld sigh i f  w saw Dr. 
So and So c d n g  up because that mant  he was certainly going to  stay for  
dinner--dinner was in the middle of the day by the way--and he was to us 
a great bore. (laughter) 

Q. Dinner was in the middle or  the day--your father wu ld  come home? 

A. My father muld come h a  i n  the middle of the day for  dinner. 

Q. fk was at the bank. Did he take mre than t:he regular lunch hour 
then? 

A. Probably not. Banking hours are pretty much as  they are  now. 

Q. But you a l l  sat down a t  the dining roam table for  dinner. 

A. Ch yes, ah, definitely yes. 

Q. k11 then, what did you do in the evening? 

A. bk had suppr  in the evening--a light: tneal--also a t  the dining room 
table. 

Q. I think that  is  a goad idea. Instead of a heavy meal in the evening. 

A. There are many people who s t i l l  prefer that .  I muld be very sleepy 
after a long midday ma1  though. 

End of Side One, Tape One 

Q. Did you and your sister and your parents travel when you were a 
child? 

A. k11, I had a habit of getting bronchitis every winter and eventually 
the doctor wuld  say, "You can't raise that child in t h i s  climate." O r  
maybe my mother egged him on a b i t ,  I don't know, but anyhow that was the 
excuse t o  take me down t o  Florida t o  visir her s i s t e r .  So I don't ranember 
going t o  school for a v h d e  year a t  a t he  for  many years. I was usually 
taken out of school and down t o  visit Aunt De l l  down i n  South Jacksonville, 
Florida. 

Q. How did you get there? 

A. By train. 

Q. By train. 

A .  I can remmkr--my one real rwn~ry  of a doll--apparently I didn't  
play with dolls a great deal - -h t  I remember what a comfort the dol l  was 
and my dol l ' s  name was Ar tds ia  which was my grandmther 's name. And 
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the t ra in  came of course from Chqa ign ,  stopped for  some l i t t le  time-I 
man care from Chicago, stopped for sonre l i t t l e  tim i n  Champaign because 
that's &ere the section was, Acre water and coal were taken on. Of 
course sleeper reservations muld have k e n  made for  the tm of us,  my 
rmther and me, and I can r m k r  king carried in my nightclothes and 
wrapped up in  blankets, over t o  the stat ion by Ivory--I ' 11 explain Ivory 
l a te r ,  Ivory carried me from the horse and carriage across the tracks t o  
the s tat ion in front of the engine, which was safe enough; it wuldn ' t  be 
leaving for some time. Ru t  just  as w wnr across, the engine let out a 
great krst of steam which frightened me terr ibly.  Then Ivory took me on 
into the state roan and put tx down in the lurk there with my doll  which 
I remember finding comforting because I was a l i t t le  b i t  frightened then, 
while my mother and father =re out checking the trunks of course--because 
you traveled with trunks in those days. 

Q. Now how old do you think you e r e ?  

A. I don't know kt it mst: have made a great impression upon E because 
fo r  years afterwards I muld  occasionally have a n i g h m r e  about that 
engine and it always wuld  end up when I ' d  gotten the covers over my head 
and I somehow f e l t  k i n g  smothered, I suppose. 

Q. & l l ,  Ehe engine in  i t s e l f  muld 'be aninous, big and black, mch less 
the burst of steam muld lx frightening. Now your sister, Garreta, 
stayed w i t h  your father i n  Champaign or did she go t o  Florida? 

A. In Urbana. 

Q. U r b ,  oh, tha t ' s  t e r r ib le  i s n ' t  it? (laughter) I should learn. 

A. Back again t o  Urbana and the importance of i ts  being Urbana. I can 
ranember one time &en my father was traveling to  Florida with us, this 
wuld be samewhat la ter .  was talking to  a fellow traveler--a m-- 
&o said, oh yes, she had a son a t  the university at Champaign, which 
inmediately brought the response frmmy father that: tshe university was 
in Urbana. Wlt she was sure it: was i n  Champaign because that  was her 
son's address. He said, "kll, tha t ' s  very likely--it  may be a fraterni ty 
o r  a boarding house in Champaign--Eut  he only university campus i n  
Chqaign was the pig farm. " A t  that time it was. 

Q. W e l l ,  maybe she learned easier than I have, I ' m  not doing very well 
with Urbana-&ampa@. O t h e r  than your t r ips  t o  Florida with your mt-her, 
did you take vacations? 

A. Yes, I had a m r a b l e  trip--oh, that muld be another t r i p  wirh my 
rmther. No, vacations were--you didn't  go off on vacations in the 
su;rp-nertime. I was a b i t  enviaus sometime l a t e r ,  I think--not when I was a 
very small chi ld- -k t  s m t k  l a t e r  of my friends who were children of 
professors because they w n t  to  Michigan or  some other place t o  get away 
f r m  the hot smmrs. No, not such a thing as  vacations of that  sort.  

I had a m r a b l e  t r i p  to  California with my mother *en I was probably 
in the second grade. I can remember very well it was second grade, mybe 
I was sick for  a Aile and then there was this t r ip .  My mother e n t  t o  
visit her aunt, my great-aunt, Hanna Keziah Clapp. 
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Q, Now tha t ' s  a name. bk '11 have t o  get that spelling a l i t t le  b i t  
l a t e r .  

A. I'll have to  think about it too, bt she was k n m  as Aunt Kiz. And 
she was a r enwhb le  personality. I muld judge that  she was quite a bit 
older Lhan her sister who was my mthe r ' s  mther. She had had a school 
for  g i r l s  sowplace--Michigan perhaps--because my mther ' s  people did 
C ~ I E  from the east  rhrough Michigan instead of rhat southern route of my 
f a ~ h e r ' s .  And she was--forty-niner fever of the people going west--she 
got: it tloo and she wore the parents of her children to  came and get  than 
and she w a t  t o  St. h i s  and joined a group i n  caravan going t o  California. 
She always said she walked to  California. I suppose she walked along 
with the wagons of the group. 

Q. But: she was alone, she was not: mrr ied?  

A. No,  she was never mrr ied .  And i n  San Francisco she mt a g i r l  a b u t  
her age &LO had come around the Horn with her uncle on sailing h s ine s s  
and the tw of than taught school--the friend particularly interested i n  
kindergartens, I think. Eventually they w n t  to  Reno, Nevada. There she 
and sornebdy else startled the University of Nevada. Now all tha t  i s  down 
in something that somebody else from the college i n t e ~ e m d  TIE about 
once--started the University of Nevada, and he was the president and she 
was the professor. 

There is one tale that my son turned up a b u t  her *en he was i n  Reno and 
had a chance t o  visit an old gentleman who had h o r n  her. He said that a 
t a l e  about her was tha t  i n  passing a saloon, rhere was a drunken m aut 
on the sidewalk i n  front of it and she had opened the door and gone into 
the saloon and said, "Sam, you'd better came out and pick up your 
advertisemnt aut here," and the Sam was Sam C l m n s .  Now tha t ' s  tm or 
three hands, not first:  hand information. 

Q. When you wmt to  visit Aunt Kiz how long did you stlay? 

A. Oh, possibly a mnth. 

Q. And what part of California was th i s?  

A. Palo Alto. Aunt Kiz by that  time--she had lived with t h i s  other 
friend un t i l  that  friend died and a f t e r  she retired--I have to  back up. 
Sne m n t  fran Reno to  Carson City, Nevada, and I have a t a l e  about her 
chere. They =re kuilding an iron fence around the courthause block and 
she f e l t  that the contract suhnitted for it was mch too high, so she 
s u w t t e d  one and she got the contract and she hilt the fence. 

%en she retired frm teaching she m n t  to  Palo Alto because that should 
be an interesting place because the new University was being hilt there-- 
Stanford Univers~ty, I can ranember going t o  visit Stan£ord University 
with her and my rmther in a buggy and driving up t h i s  long avenue of 
trees--which i f  you've been there you'd remember it, too--to a strange, 
interesting church with msaics  on the outside. That was a very interesting 
thing to  a child. 
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But f i r s t ,  when 1 f i r s t  m n t  into Aunt Kiz's house, she had said a l m s t  
irrmediately, "Qll, there i s n ' t  any proper furniture for  a l i t t le  child 
here. I t 's  a l l  too high, re ought tso have something. k t ' s  go downstairs 
t o  my mrkshop," and she whopped up a stool fo r  TIE f r w  her mrkshop. 

Q. I think you were lucky t o  have someone like Aunt Kiz. She sounds 
l ike  a m d e r f u l  person . . . 
A. Yes, my memories of Aunt Kiz are  quite mnderful . Oh, also my memory 
was that she had curly short: ha i r ,  and it wasn ' t fashionable t o  have 
short ha i r  in those days. Aunt Kiz was a determined individualist. 

Q. *en you m t i o n e d  kindergarten ear l ier .  That was your mther  that 
bad the kindergaten? 

A.  No, it was my mother a o  had the idea of the kindergarten. The house 
at  hane had one roam which m t  have been an addition t o   he original 
house, Ixzt an additzion put on before my father bought it, which was a 
one-story room with an outside entrance of its om. And my mthe r  had 
the idea of using that room fo r  a kindergarten, and she and other people 
perhaps, I don't b o w  whm, found an e z e l l e n t  kindergarten teacher who 
was a Champaign g i r l  and I don't know how many years--this was &fore I 
was lam. My sister went t o  the kindergarten; I never knew the kindergarten. 
Zhere i s  s t i l l  one mman, a friend in  Urbana, d ~ o  was a m k r  of that 
kindergarten. 

Q. 'Ihere was no public kindergarten? 

A. No, no. 

Q. Everyone started in first grade. 

A. I suppose they a l l  chipped in  and paid the teacher, 

Q. Do you have any idea of the size of the class? 

A. No, I haven't. The floor I think at: that time was a softmod floor, 
not a hardmod floor,  and there was a painted c i rc le  on it where they 
all  put the i r  l i t t l e  chairs around in a c i rc le  i n  good kindergarten 
fashion. 

Q. Yes. &ll, the Historic -- Sites in  Chmpaign County &ich was done by 
the Bicentennial C d s s i o n  said that was a bi l l ia rd  roan. 

A. kll, mch later. After the kindergarten it became a downstairs 
bedroom. At somt tirne in i ts  existence it was rented. That must have 
been *en my parents f i r s t  bought the place. You see my s i s t e r  was five 
years old--no . . . 
Q. They bought it in 1893. 

A .  M, that was the year she was born. That was the year she was born. 
k11, anyhow at  some t h  or another they rented it to  a new professor 
and his wife fran the east h o  had come to  this young university and 
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having i ts  ourside entrance, it wrked out very nicely. That was 
Professor and Mrs. McDaniels, and Professor &Daniels l a t e r  kcam a 
president of the university. And friends of theirs  who used to  ccme see 
them when they lived there w r e  Mr. and Mrs. WKinley, and McKinley was 
president of the university eventually. These e r e  young people c m  
t o  the new university. 

That m s  before the kindergarten, I guess. The kindergarten muld have 
COKE at  the time tha t  my s i s t e r  was ready for  kindergarten, of course, 
and a f t e r  that the kindergarten dissolved--1 don't know why. I never 
heard. I do know that tlhe kindergarten teacher got: married, maybe that 
was the reason. 

Q. 'Ihat ws probably the reason. Did you attend kindergarten a t  the 
public schools then? 

A. No, there was no kindergarten. 

Q. So yau just s tar ted i n  the f i r s t  grade. 

A. Yes, there was no kindergarten. Then, tha t  room became a downstairs 
bedroom. That was the roan I was born in. And la te r  it was just  a 
useful roan--my mtkr  had a sewing machine there by the window where she 
could watch the children in the sand p i l e  outside under the apple t r ee ,  
and then eventually it became a b i l l ia rd  roan and eventually a library. 

Q. Tell n~ a b u t  your house that you grew up in. 

A. k11, it was an old Victorian white clapboard house . . . I'll get 
you a picture of it . . . 

Esld of Side k, Tape One 

A. It was r d e l e d ,  and then it was remodeled again-twice, on account 
of f i r e s .  

Q. Did it burn while you =re l iving there? 

A. Yes, I was about tm years old the f i r s t  time. I am told that  
originally off the porch, in betwen these tw windows on the east  side 
of the house . . . 
Q. In the middle of those t w  windows downstairs? 

A. Y e s .  That is r ere the front: door was with a stairway that ~ n t :  up 
-diately frcxn the front door. And the house was kilt a l i t t le  
peculiarly--instead of a tm-by-four and then sheathing of some sor t  on 
the outside of the tm-by-fours and then the clapboard on that--the 
sheathing was on the inside of the tm-by-fours which left a nice drafty 
place all  the my up. Ib YOU see what I man? 

Q. Yes. 
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A.  Fhen I was about bm years old a painter was burning off blistered 
paint on the house and a spark got in there, and of course the f i r e  mt 
right up through that  space up t o  the attic, and there was a considerable 
f i r e .  And a story was that they had just put in a downstairs bathroan. 
And the plmber, hearing the f i r e  bell--in those days the k11 told 
people by code what ward the fire was in--thought it might be that  hause. 
In the middle of the night he dashed out because he was so proud of t h i s  
new plumbing he had put: in, and pulled it out. (laughter) 

Q. And then he came back and put it back in. 

A. And then cam back and put it back. A t  that tiroe the house was 
considerably ranodeled inside, and that  stairway was out and on the other 
side--on the Elm Street side--the front door was put with a stairway 
going f r m  that  door. It was a very different so r t  of stairway. %en I 
was a t  the university--I graduated i n  1920--I think it was during the 
First b r l d  k r - - the  house was king painted again and my mother had gone 
off t o  the Red Cross to  wrap bandages and she said t o  the painter, "Don't 
turn off any paint here." And he did. I was a t  home then and he came 
dashing in, "Call the Fire Deparment." And exactly the same thing happened. 

Q. You E r e  never told why it was constructed this way? 

A. No. 

Q. That sounds strange. 

A. It is strange. The house was built by--I'm not sure who bilt it-- 
Exlt it was lived i n  by the nun who was superintendent of the railroad, 
the Big Four, tha t  w m t  through Urbana a t  that the.  &ether he bilt it 
or not I don't know. S a w  maan from North Carolina, and &ether or  not 
it was h i s  wife or  not I don't know, had owned it a t  one time and a 
number of the trees and shrubs =re North Carolina trees. The varieties 
that she planted =re not native. 

Q. Upstairs you m t  have had four or five bedrooms. Did you and your 
sister share a room? k t  a b u t  Minnie? 

A. Yes, there was a room over the kitchen for  Minnie, and back s ta i r s .  
And my parents bedroom, and my sister's bedroom, and trine, and the spare 
room f o r  guests =re upstairs. Then la te r ,  a f t e r  that second f i r e ,  no, 
it was before that, tha t  domstairs roan that  had been a kindergarten was 
hilt up t m  stories.  And that made a nice large bedroom which was my 
s i s t e r ' s  and mine together. And the small room that  had k e n  mine, which 
had b e c m  a passageway to  that  new room, became a sewing room. 

Q. *en you =re growing up, were your grandparents alive and living in  
Urbana? 

A. grandnother was. I can barely ranember being taken to  see my 
grandfather on what must have been his  death bed, and presenting him 
with my big ragdoll for  comfort or  something of the sort.  I can just  
barely remember that. So I mst have been very young. My grandmther 
lived to  be a b u t  83 or  84, and was very much a part of the family. 
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Q. This was the Busey grandmother? 

A. Yes, the Busey grandmther. 

Q. Your mther was from Urbana also? 

A. From Cobden, Illinois. 

Q. So those grandparents, i f  they =re living, you did not see that 
much? 

A. H e r  mther died k fo re  she could remmker and her father,  shortly 
before I was born. Her father's name was Garret, and my sis ter  is  named 
for him. It eventually came to be pronounced Garreta instead of Garreta. 
I brought along a picture of the Busey house, my g ranh the r ' s  house, and 
this is my grandmther and probably the Aunt who lived with her. That 
wuld have been kilt when my father was very young-he was next: to the 
youngest of t?x eight: children--and r m b e r e d  living i n  the house out 
on the farm near where that round barn is .  I k  r m b e r e d  going to school 
and getting his feet frozen, chillblains--is there such a term . . . 
Q. Yes, like frostbite. 

A, Yes, frostbite. %en he was a child going across the fields t o  the 
schoolhouse. But he was s t i l l  a small child when his father hilt this 
house in town i n  Urbana. 

Q. That's a gorgeous home, with that big porch and cupola. &at street 
was it on? 

A. Yes. I am sorry they tore it down. That was given when my grandmther 
died--her children gave  hat to the tom for  a hospital. That i s  the 
hospital where my older son was born. Eventually it became--the hospital 
had a history of changes--Carle Sanitarium. The Carle Sanitarium's first 
wing was hilt out £ran t h a t  and then wings a l l  around it, and not so 
many years ago they tore it down completely. 

Q. Is the Carle Clinic located there? 

A. Yes. 

Q. That i s  tmo bad they tore it down. 

A. Yes. It was the block that i s  the Carle Clinic, and the one side of 
it was the orchard. In back of that was my granctrmsther's pasture and 
barn. The entrance was from University Avenue. My widowed aunt, Aunt 
Augusta, and her l i t t l e  g i r l ,  Grace, *o was in the picture, lived w i h  my 
granhthex , The cupola became Grace ' s playhouse. 

Q. &, she was a lucky l i t t l e  g i r l .  You said your grandmother was very 
mch a part of the family. Does that man at  Christmas yau were a l l  
together? 
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A .  Yes. kt's see. Tnere e r e  Uncle Matt, Uncle John, Uncle J i m ,  Aunt 
Alice, Aunt Augusta, Aunt Frank (Frances), and my father makes seven of 
her children tha t  *re all living close enough--most of them in tom,  
Urbana or  a q a i g n ,  o r  close enough t o  get back--and the youngest: one 
who didn't l ive  so close. But mst of the families lived close enough 
that w met a t  G r a n h t h e r ' s  house on Sunday afternoons. S a ~ b d y  from 
each of the families w n t  to  Grandma's house on Sundays, and sometimes a 
number of them. I was next t o  the youngest of the twwlty-one cousins who 
lived close enough, so w mt there. O f  course there was a gap in the 
ages, so the cousins weren't there a l l  the time. But the cousins did 
play there. They played i n  the cupola; they played in the barn; they 
played in tshe pastxre; they played in the swings in the orchard; and tlhen 
there =re the various family dinners and so on. I can remember some 
family dinners where the old folks ate a t  f i r s t  table and the children 
ate a t  second table. (laughs) 

Q. But these family dinners =re always a t  Granchnother's house? 

A. No, not always, no. They were very apt to  be a t  my rmther ' s .  I 
think she had more family sense than mst of them. She'd be apt t o  have 
New Year's dinner. I can ramnkr many a time getting out the various 
kinds of covers for  the various tables she used. You could not put them 
a l l  a t  the dining table.  

Q. So yau feel your mther enjoyed entertaining? 

A. Yes. She enjoyed that: kind of family entertaining. Entertaining 
=ant getting out some kind of a fancy cover for  a l l  those tables-- 
anbroidered linen or  something which always had to  be ironed. (laughs) 

Q. lbw,  you said Minnie took care of you, but did she also do the laundry 
and ironing? 

A. Minnie ms a m i d  of a l l  mrk. I don ' t how how Minnie got it a l l  
done. Minnie was up early, early on Monday mrning and when I got up, 
Minnie had the clothes out on the line. (laughter) 

Q. Everything had to  be ironed. 

A. Everything had to  be ironed with irons mst of which are used for 
doorstops around here . . . 
Q. Flatirons. 

A .  They had to  be heated on the coal stave, winter or s m r .  

Q. But your rmther did the cooking? 

A. Minnie did the cooking. 

Q. Minnie was b y .  

A. Minnie was t ande rh l .  And at: our house e muld say, 'Yes, this is 
the way Minnie used t o  rrake it." 
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Q. So, you =re in and out of school through the lower grades because of 
your bronchitis. Fhen did you get this under control and s t a r t  attending 
school regularly? 

A. Oh, I think about fourth grade. 

Q. And then you w n t  to high school i n  Urbana and then to  the university. 

A. I was gone--in 1908 1 muld have been ten years old, wouldn't I--in 
1908 aur family had th i s  wnderful adventure vhich was a big influence in  
my l i f e .  My mther ' s  s i s t e r ,  mch older than she, had married a mn 
tjno became the American Consul i n  Gertnany , in Frieburg and she died 
there. Her husband then l a t e r  married again, married Aunt Bessie. He  
became Consul in Cologne. Ek came back here for a while, married, and 
then refxmed t o  Germany. 

I& wnt over i n  1908, leaving on Decoration Day, t o  visit these people in 
Cologne. Then w spent time traveling about Germany and had a wnderful 
walking t r i p  in rhe Eifel Mountains, I remember, and then some time i n  
the Netherlands, and Fmgland, and Belgium. Then e spent a mnth  in  
Florence, a mnth  i n  Rame, and then sailed back from Naples supposedly i n  
titw t o  get horrre for  Qnristms a t  Grandma's. So  hat was a good part of 
that school year ki l led.  Tnat was a mnderful cxperince for  a ten-year-old. 
I can remember my lit t le fear  of not being able t o  go along on that  t r i p  
kcause of older folks saying, 'You're not: going t o  drag that  child 
around al l  the a r t  gal ler ies  of Europe, are you?" So I mis afraid I 
might get l e f t  a t  home. Eht I didn' t ,  and I think people underestimate 
h o w m h  a child of ten does see and remember. For years afterward, they 
said, "Jean remembers things w? have forgotten." And I loved the a r t  
gal ler ies .  

Q. How long a voyage was it? 

A. About eight or  ten days. 

Q. Did you get seasick? 

A.  No. Caning back was real ly quite a m r a b l e  voyage. It was 1908, 
and I think a t  the time there =re many eruptions and earthquakes, and I 
believe I%. Aetna erupted a b u t  that  time. There was real ly quite stormy 
wather  so that the boat was delayed. It was supposed t o  land i n  New 
York in  time that w could get back hame by Christmas, but w had Christmas 
on the bat. were delayed by high waves and s t o m ,  and I remember 
standing with my father up on some deck or  other looking down t o  the deck 
below and being very much anused a t  the very proper G e m  ship's off icer  
suddenly being s ~ p t  across the deck on his back over t o  the next r a i l ,  
by a wave that  came up. He looked very much chagrined. 

A l l  the people on the b a t  of course rallied around t o  make Qlrismas 
sonrething special on the boat. That Christmas Eve m r y  is very vivid 
i n  my mind because they had hilt a fa lse  fireplace and had a Christmas 
t ree  by it and sarebody had mrked out a l i t t le  sk i t  that was performed 
there. I led in  the tw l i t t le  youngsters t o  hang up the i r  stockings and 
that  sor t  of thing. Everybody cooperated t o  make Christmas Eve especially 
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nice. After dinner up on the balcony al l  around t?x dining salon the 
crew that  could be spared a l l  gathered  here, and being German, they sang 
beautiful ly  "Silent Night. " 

Q. "Silent Night" is so beautiful in German. Did you have a way of 
notifying G r a n b t h e r  that you =re delayed? 

A. I don' t remarker. Did w have &rconi by then? 

Q. I don't know. &11, that  was quite a t r ip .  Lhen you =re staying in 
Rome for  a mnth and in  Florence, did you stay jn hotels a l l  that  t i m e ?  

A. Yes. Or i n  pensions. k stayed in  a pension i n  Florence, on the 
River Amo, that  was nm by a very remarkable English wman d ~ o  was proud 
of her cooking which she had learned a t   he cooking school that had k e n  
inaugurated by Queen Victoria. (laughs) 

Q. That's impressive. 

A. I guess it was part of Queen Victoria's good mrks. But anyhow she 
had gone to cooking school there, and she was proud of her brother who 
.was editor of a journal or paper in the United States. Miss Godkind-- 
funny I can remember her name. 

Q. Yes. lihen I asked i f  you stayed in a hotel ,  I meant you did not know 
families in these c i t i e s .  

Q. Did your mther  attend a university? 

A. No. 

Q. Ibt your father had. 

A .  No. I daubt that he finished eighth grade. He was t a l l ,  a big boy 
for  his age. Ik hated school--he thought he was bigger than the other 
boys and I don't think school was compulsory in those days. 

Q. Did he s t a r t  wxking in  the bank right away? 

A. Yes. W e l l ,  he talked about spending t ime with an older brother &o 
was mrking on a farm in  Fisher, I l l inois ,  which ei ther  belonged to him 
o r  to his father, I don't know which. And he w n t  up and lived with 
Uncle John--%pt batch" as  they called it. That is the only thing I can 
ranember his talking about doing unt i l  he e n t  aut to Arizona t o  b e c m  
the superintendent of an Indian reservation at: twenty-one. 

Q. How did he get aut there? By train? And why? (laughter) 

A. And why, yes? A s  you found out, his father had been for a t  leas t  a 
term a m b e r  of the General Assembly, and I suppose he wt have knom 
same politicians, I k  was in the newspaper office in Qmmpaign one t h  
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du=n somebody tho came in  said, "Say, Busey , do you know anybody d m  
muld like a job on an Indian reservation?'' A patronage job, no doubt, 
and I am ashamed to  say tha t  is the way our Indian reservations w r e  
run--by s m o n e  who was no m r e  qualified than that. He said, "kll, 
maybe my son George tjould be interested." So, twnty-one, yes, he wnt 
by t r a in  t o  The Needles on the Colorado River, and there he changed to a 
rowboat rowd by a couple of Indians down the r iver  to  tJhat is  now Parker, 
Arimna. Parker now is a tom.  It ms a t  Parker or  near Parker that 
those poor Japanese were sequestered . . . 
Q. During Wrld k r  IT. . . 
A. Yes, during the Second b r l d  Lhr. And the reservation was for three 
different tribes who were as  I understand it stranded there and not 
looked after on any other reservations. Some =re bhave, same =re Yuna  
Indians, and sorne were Chemhuevi. I w i l l  have to  check that  spelling. 
Then he wrote back letters to  the newspaper--this is ,  you know, a home 
t om,  small town--interesting news abut the Indians. And fortunately I 
have those le t ters .  h e  t i m e  he wrote back tlhat he needed a teacher o r  a 
mtron t o  look a f t e r  the l i t t le  Indian boys in the school they had. A t  
that time my mother and a friend of hers e r e  mrking in the Gazette 
office and they thought: that might be a lark. My mther did the 
Busey family was, she didn't know them, lmt at least she knew that it was 
a respectable family. But tha t  i s  where they net: each other. 

Q. Out on the Indian reservation. That's quite a story. Did they come 
back t o  Urbana then to be married? 

A. Yes. I don't know how long he stayed after  that. He did cane back 
then a f t e r  they becae engaged in  order to make enough mney to getl 
married. SZle stayed on for  a year, I believe, t o  f in ish  her contract 
with them. Then she cam back and they =re mrr ied .  

Q. Since neither of them had gone to  school, how did they feel  about 
your going to  the university? 

A. &11, I think it was just an accepted thing in those days you w n t  to 
high school. There was a the when many people didn't  go to  high school. 
men did w get a l a w  saying you have t o  go t o  school until a certain 
age? It was certainly an accepted thing that you went to  high school, 
and being right there in a t o m  with a university, it was an accepted 
thing. 

Q. I thjnk it: is unusual for  a mman to  have graduated from the University 
of I l l inois  i n  1920. Nei~her of my grandmthers did, but as you say they 
did nor: live in a town with a university. 

A. Yes, w e l l  it was not unusual i n  Urbana. 

Q. bhs there any r ivalry betmen university students and local people, 
l ike  there i s  i n  s c m  university t o m  now? 

A. There was "town and gown." I was definitely "tom." Though the 
difference wasn't too great. I had friends who =re "gom." 
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Q. You lived at home then, not on canrpus? 

A. I lived a t  h a .  My sister vent to k l l e s l ey .  She was a b i t  more of 
a bookish person than I, but I don't know how she happened t o  become 
particularly interested in Lkllesley, but she did. 

Q. %at was your major at the University? 

Q. Ch . . . you real ly took courses in chemistry by choice? (laughs) 

A. I have a B.S. i n  manistry. 

Q. You told ITE you taught out east: somehere. 

A, bkll, it was a l m s t  play-teaching in  a remte  part of the Blue Ridge 
Mountains in North Carolina. 

Q, How did yau find out a b u t  that opening? 

A. k11, I had a classmate at  the University . . .I had graduated in  the 
spring of 1920 and along abut  Christmas, I was a t  the university for a 
nmvie- -appropriately enough "The L i t t l e  Shepherd of Kingdom Come'' with 
lo t s  of mnvltain scenery, and so on--and I s a t  beside a classmite of mine 
there &om I hadn't: seen since graduation. She had w i ~ h  her a young man 
arxl the tm of than kept saying, 'That looks just  l ike  Crossnore." She 
was frm a rather remarkable l i t t le  cmnmjty  in North Carolina, and he 
was a Presbyterian minister on a tour t o  get £unds for  the school. She 
had ken there because her father,  a geologist, had k e n  doing KO& for  
the Geological Survey there and she had spent the s m r  there and 
consequently had known this school and had becaw interested and taught 
there that fall. Mrs. Sloop was the founder of the school at Crossnore, 
North Carolina. My friend had k e n  teaching there, h t  Mrs. Sloop wanted 
her to  travel about the m n ' s  colleges of the south t o  talk about the 
school and develop in teres t  in  it and ask them to send old clothes for 
the i r  rather fam~us "Old Clothes Sale." She was looking for  sameone to  
take her place for  the rest of the school year, and it sounded interesfing 
t o  rw and so I did. 

I laved North Carolina, still love North Carolina. The man attending the 
movie with my friend was an interesting chap. IIe was a native of th is  
r a t e - - a t  that time--part of the h i l l s ,  Elis father could neither read 
nor write, lxlt was a very intel l igent  person. He, the father ,  had been 
orphaned when he was very young and was head of the family of his mother 
and y q e r  children by the tine he was fourteen or  so. He had gone down 
t o  the lowlands to  get the txm things that they needed--one was cotton 
warp and the other was s a l t ,  I believe. He had hilt a sawmill, and 
another thing he needed from the lowlands was the saw blades. Ke samd 
down the timber with his new saw blade-making tm-by-fours--and put one 
on top of the other, spiking them down every so often with long spikes, 
and hilt a tw-story house in that  way. IEe had also buil t  a tanning p i t  
there. He did a l l  this with no education at a l l .  R u t  t h i s  b y ,  his son, 
who was one of h i s  thir teen children, had cane under the influence of 
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Mrs. Sloop and wanted t o  get an education. I l i s  father was against i t ,  
but h i s  mther  had helped him pack his l i t t le  leather trunk and he put it 
on his shoulder and walked off to the railroad, sixteen miles away, and 
got himself to  Berea, Kentucky. k r e a  i s  the mcca for  Appalachian 
people. There they gave him an entrance e m a t i o n  to  pick out the noun 
and the verb in th i s  sentence, and he couldn't do it. They asked him t o  
add, subtract, multiply, and divide, and he didn' t know how to  do that 
very w e l l  either.  So they put him in the f i r s t  or  second grade, and i n  
eight years he had completed e l m n t a r y  school, high school, college, and 
theological seminary. That shows what a good mature brain can do. An 
aw£ul l o t  of time is wasted when the kids might better be out in the 
mods learning to  imitate the birds ' calls the way he did. 

Q. %en you =re teaching a t  this school, *at age students did you 
have? 

A. I had a sixth grade class in reading and a f i r s t  year high school 
class i n  French, and that is a l l  I remember . . . oh, yes, a high school 
class in history. Mrs. Sloop was eager t o  get accreditation for  this 
school, and so to  be able t o  list teachers who had the proper training in 
these various things, and my training was in  chemistry. But you did what 
had to be done--if samething had to  be done, you did it. So, she had a 
l i t t l e  diff icul ty getting mch l i s ted  for  me. 

Q. So you never got t o  use your chemical degree? 

A. Not  there, no. I kept ahead of the class i n  history (laughter) kit I 
heard l a te r  that one of my students there thought tha t  I was such a 
mnderful teacher that  he got h i s  doctorate in history someplace. 

Q. ell, that  says a l o t  for  your teaching. 

A. These wre wnderful people. This one chap was not an mep t ion .  
They were good brains. They =re ei ther  Johnsons o r  Franklins , usually. 
A l l  the Jolmsons w x e  related and a l l  the Franklins =re related, and the 
Johnsons *re related to  the Franklins, and they were inbred, lxlt the 
good characteristics *re the ones that  e r e  visible.  

Q. Frm haw large a radius, mile-wise, did your students cam? 

A. As far as you could walk. You had to  ~ l k - - i t  m s  too hard to raise 
food for  both miin and beast--Chere were very f e w  horses. You walked 
across the muntain, 

End of Side One, Tape k 

Q. bere did you l ive  while teaching there? 

A. A t  the "teacherage. " I sn ' t  that  a wonderful name? 

Q. Yes. (laughter) Very descriptive. 
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A. That was a l i t t l e  house that had been hilt up and remodeled enough 
to have four zoom for teachers upstairs and domstairs there was a 
l i t t l e  living roam, dining room, and a kitchen. Tnere was also place for 
a former student wfio had gotten some education outside of the muntains 
and his young wife, and they cooked t:he meals and took care of things for 
the teachers. 

Q. Jkwmany teachers Ere there? 

A. The t w  rooms and sleeping porch =re occupied by myself and t w  good 
friends dm have remained very good friends . . . and I remember tw 
other teachers, older mmen, in the house. Zhen there was the principal 
of the school who lived outside the "teacherage," and one other, a man, 
both of h o r n  had k e n  away from there and gotten some education, possibly 
a t  Berea. 

Q. k11, it sounds like a nice setup, because you didn't want fo r  
corrrpanionship. 

A. It was del ighthl ,  really. There ms a new schoolhouse, a tm-story 
schoolhouse which housed f i r s t  grade up through four classes of high 
school. And that spring the f i r s t  high school class was graduated--two 
pupils, and I have a le t te r  upstairs from one of than. 

Q. That i s  wnderful that you keep letters,  

A. But this is a recent letter.  

Q. a, a recent le t ter .  You've kept in touch a l l  these years? 

A. Yes, with a number of them. They were wnderfuZ people, and w e  are 
the k s t  of friends. 

Q. Going back to the time you e r e  at  the University of I l l inois,  Ehe 
influenza e p i d d c  . . . was that bad i n  Q-mrnpaign-Urbana? 

A. Y e s ,  it was. 

Q. Did anyone i n  your b d i a t e  family have it? 

A. No. I can remember it very plainly though. Oh, well, yes, I remember 
one particular, pathetic case. I had a cousin a b u t  my age who lived 
across the street who was engaged t o  a young man, Dudley by nam, and he 
was in the Army and was driving an army truck i n  a convoy of trucks t o  
smplace i n  the east, Philadelphia, I believe. It doesn't matter, 
except that it was some distance from haw, and he could hardly keep 
going. He got there and was hospitalized with the flu, and was out of 
his head and calling for Helen, his fiance. Tne nun [nurse] knew that he 
muldn't survive, and I think they had said what oxygen was available 
sbu ld  k used for somebody else. kt she insisted that they keep on 
with his until she could get mrd t o  Helen. O f  course, she didn't have 
Helen's las t  name. I suppose she did know where he was frm E r m  his 
tag, so she sent a telegram t o  'Wss Helen" that so and so was dying. So 
b l e n  and her mther got on the train and got there just i n  time to  see 
him. Tnat is  another l i t t l e  story. 
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Q. Oh. That is a sad story, h t  it is interesting that it could be 
addressed like t h a t  and she muld get it. 

A. Yes. It m s  a small town, you know. And of course his name was 
known in a small tom.  

Q. But just: for t h e m  t o  get there muld  have taken several days. 

A. Yes. You didn't go flying off l ike  now. 

Q. Did you know many young m, a few years older than you, who =re 
called up for  the Firs t  %rid War? 

A. Yes. ?hey =re my own age, fo r  tha t  matter. 

Q. b t s  of than? You know i n  the Second bbrld &r everybody went. &s 
this the case in t:he First b r l d  k z ?  Could they ke deferred easily? 

A. I don't r m k r  about d e f e m t s  with particular people. 

Q. &re tkre at tha t  tine just mstly gir ls  at  he university? O r ,  i f  
=re in  school, could they stay? 

A. Tnere =re a good many mn st i l l  there. I rea l ly  don' t know. 

Q. %en yau came back f ran your marvelous t b  i n  North Carolina,  en 
did you met your b b a n d ?  

A .  ell, he had been in Pi t t shrgh  and Akron doing chemical research for 
aviation and came back t o  the university to  get his doctor's degree. And 
one of the . . . oh, there mt: have been a mber of young m n  vho just 
didn ' t  go to war, but frankly, I can't r m k r  how, or  why, or who, a t  
least of the chemists I knew. b e  of the chemists that I knew wanted to  
get him a date for  a dance, and asked me i f  I muld go. And so I wnt. 

Q. And then, &en =re you married? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Did you have a big e d d i n g ?  

A. Yes, r a ~ h e r  big wdding. 

Q. Tell me abut  it. 

A. ell, it MS in the mrning so that w e  could drive t o  catch a train 
dom t o  North Carolina. 

Q. Oh. (laughter) 
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A. It m s  in August: and I was afraid it wuld  be te r r ib ly  hot *athe+, 
br: it happened to  be decent: wather--very nice s m r  mather.  I hate 
this terr ibly hot August kind. So, the wdding was at  home and my husband's 
mther  and sister, m r r i e d ,  and a brother wZlo was married and his  wife and 
l i t t le  g i r l ,  and t w  other brothers a l l  drove down f r m  Michigan. This 
was quite a drive in those days. You didn't  z ip  up back and forth i n  one 
day as you do now. A brother of my husband had been married eight mnths 
before up in  Michigan, and I had been up there for that  wedding. 

Q. So you had mt h i s  family. 

A. I& had a vedding breakfast on the porch, a large screened porch, and 
out in   he yard. It was a beautiful day for  it with tables s e t  up out i n  
dle yard. It mrked out: very nicely. 

Q. D i d  you have just a pret ty party dress or did you have what now is 
called a bride's dress? 

A. N o t  h a t  is now called a bride ' s dress. It ms a very nice dress, 
and I have very l i t t l e  sense about clothes. I can't  even t e l l  you what 
the material was except that it had quite a l o t  of nice triming around 
the collar and cuffs of rea l  lace h i c h  my mther was very fond of. That 
year in Europe she had bought quite a lot: of real  lace. I recently said 
samething to  s m  clerk, wanting a b i t  of lace for  s a r ~  t r iming ,  and she 
brought out something very odd, saying it was real lace. I thought, 
'Bah." (laughs) She had no idea what I meant by real  lace, h a n b d e  
lace. That part of it was very nice, I remember. 

Q. What color was it? 

A. It was &ite, and it was a very bad year in styles,  with a long, long 
waist, which I didn't l ike  very mch. It was very beautifully made by a 
mman in Qlznnpaign &LO did a l o t  of that sor t  of thing. And she came 
over that  day t o  help me dress--Mrs. Joe Cannon, who was real ly quite 
remarkable. And *en I moved down here and was trying t o  get: rid of 
things, I sent it LO the County Museum in Q l q a i g n .  

Q. Ch. &11, it rmst have ken linen t o  have lasted . . . 
A. No, lxzt I can't tell you what: it was. (laughs) It was a l i t t le  
f iner  than linen. 

Q, Silk pongee, maybe? 

A. I don't hm. I rea l ly  have very l i t t le  sense a b u t  clothes. 

Q. Your sister was in the wdding? 

A. My sister was a b r i d e a i d ,  and my sister-in-law was a bridesmaid, 

Q. Then you left to  get t o  the t rain? 

A. My brother-in-law who had just been married the month before and his 
wife drove us t o  Homer. l b r ,  I l l ino i s?  k u l d  a t r a in  have stopped a t  
b r ,  Illinois? 
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Q. I don't know. (laugher) It might have then. Did your husband l ike  
North Carolina as  much as you did? 

A, Yes, he liked it very much. had been down there before. The year 
a f t e r  I taught: there, my parents and my sister and I drove a Model T Ford 
down and spent  he smwr in Crossnore. Leonard, a t  that  time, was doing 
research at  Yale University and he cam down to  see us. 

Q. %at is Crossnore near? 

A. Norhing, It was three miles from Plmbtree. (laughs) 

Q. That's a big help. (laughter) k e n  you went there on the train, 
where did you go? 

A .  To Knoxville, and from there you took a narrow gauge road t o  . . . 
forgotten the nam of it . . . it was nothing bt a station. The narrow 
gauge had been lxlilt by a mining corrrpany. But it ms now used only for  
passenger t ravel ,  and then satrebody rnet you or  you walked the three miles 
t o  Crossnore. Crossnore was a crossroads--had a general store, and a 
Baptist church, and the new school tuilding. That: is  a whole story i n  
i t s e l f .  Samebody did a de l i gh th l  biography of Mrs. Sloop which gives 
you the story of Crossnore. Maybe a mile from the school was the h a  of 
Dr. and Mrs. Sloop--both of them =re doctors, by the way--and a mile and 
a half away was a h o n ~  I particularly liked, where there Ere seven 
children, I think. The granddaughter of tha t  household I nuet when I was 
living up a t  Lake County. She was stationed a t  Great Iakes and was the 
mst s w  looking Lieutenant: knmnder you ever saw. These people 
had profited by t:he school in thei r  learning. 

Mrs. S l o q  and Dr. Sloop had gone there about ten years before. She had 
gone t o  Philadelphia to  mdical  school. She was from the PiedmDnt of 
North Carolina and was going to  be a missionary i n  mina. By the time 
she finished her medical schooling, her parents were not very well and 
she had to look a f t e r  them. By tha t  t i m e  the missionary board felt she 
was a l i t t le  old for going t o  China--you had t o  learn the language and so 
forth--and she mt D r .  Sloop who said they should go be missionaries on 
the i r  o m  up i n  the m t a i n s ,  not in any formal missionary society. But 
they just wn t  up into the m t a i n s ,  in  one of the mst backwods places, 
and star ted living and he was the only doctor for  many miles around. k e  
of h i s  f i r s t  cases was a boy with appendicitis, and when he told the 
father the boy muld have t o  be operated on, the father said, "kll, you 
operate, Eut he kt te r  live," 

Q. Oh. 

A. They operated out of doors kcause it w~s the cleanest place. And he 
did live. After a while Mrs. Sloop becam particularly interested in 
education there. She f e l t  that  m s  *at ms real ly needed. D r .  Sloop 
was kept busy going out on horseback t o  his cal ls .  She got people interested 
in mving the l i t t le  schoolhouse &ich was down on the banks of the 
branch. You bow the mrd branch? A stream is a branch. Literal ly and 
figuratively they moved it up--it m s  flooded there in  the spring. The 
schoolyear was very short anyhow because the yaungsters *re needed t o  
mrk on the farm in the spring and the f a l l .  
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She got some dedicated teachers, not samebody like IIE who was interested. 
One particularly fine womm was from Oklahoma who was also a Presbyterian 
as the Sloops %re. Tne Sloops e r e  very dedicated in their religion. 
She got these dedicated people to  mrk in  the school, and it was not 
difficult to get folks interested. Tney had m r i e s  of education and 
had a tradition of education. One man, particularly, wanted Latin tau P because L a t i n  was for educated people. (laughter). Of course it wasn t 
ri&t away until they built up the school. She (Mrs. Sloop) was interested 
in  t m  l i t t l e  girls  tho =re orphaned, I believe. She wanted to send 
them away to school; she f e l t  that wherever they had to  live was not 
adequate. %e wanted to send them possibly to some church school dom in 
the Piedmnt. But they couldn't go without decent clothes. So she wrote 
to some of her relatives and asked i f  they had some old clothes they 
could send up so she could make them over for the children. The trunk 
arrived and she opened it with great expectation, and all the clothes 
=re black. She had forgotten  hat these people were i n  mourning. She 
couldn't send them off all dressed in black. 

A b u t  that time a couple of m t a i n  w m n   car^ by on their way somplace, 
stopped to talk, and oh, they =re enamored of these beautiful black 
dresses, They were so nice, and they wished they could have them, and 
wanted tso know how much it wuld cost to buy one. She sold them for very 
l i t t l e ,  kt that gave her an idea. She sold everflhing and then she 
wrote to a l l  of her friends t o  send their old clothes. By the time I was 
there it had gotten t o  be a $10,000 sale. One of the local rrren and his 
wife *re taking charge of this l i t t l e  sale room once a mek, and people 
muld come on horseback or afoot from yon side of the muntain to  the 
sale of a l l  sorts of things by that t ime.  And I think it goes on t o  this 
day. But manwhile, the DAR becarne interested after a while in  the 
school and helped to Ixlild tuildings, so there are a number of hildings 
there now. 

Q. Now, *at is the name of the school? 

A. Crossnore. 

Q. Ibw do you spell it? 

A. GR-0-S-S-N-0-R-E. It was a p b l i c  school then, and I think there i s  
s t i l l  a public school but there i s  now a boarding school, too, and many 
of the people are orphans from outside the mntntains. It has changed and 
grom a great deal, and the Sloops have long been dead. 

Q. Eht the concept is  s t i l l  the same that someone uho has been orphaned 
does have a chance to get an education. 

A. Tne Sloops were remarkable people-both of t h .  

Q. Wl, I think it has been a long day , . . 
A, Oh, that about that cup of coffee? 

End of Side W, Tape M 



Jean Busey Yntema 27 

Q. Mrs. Yntema, your bsband's  name is Y-N-T-E-M-A. Can you t e l l  me 
s m t h i n g  about that: nane? 

A, I understand it is a Frisian nanae, and I have been told tha t  the 
Frisian nares =re the old tr ibal  rims, unlike the Dutch nams-- 
s u ~ s - - b e c a u s e  the Dutch had no s u m s  until Napoleon mde them 
take them. The Frisian nams are unlike the h t c h  ones anyhow because 
F'risian language is distinct: from Ihtch, not a dialect: kt: as dis t inc t  as 
Dutch and English. 

Q. &ere is Frisia? 

A. Friesland is the n o r t h e m s t  province of the Netherlands, and islands 
above the f o m r  Zuider Zee, and there is  also a German kies land  of 
islands. I suppose they e r e  a l l  together a t  one time. Tne eastern mst 
chain of those islands i s  G e m  Friesland. 

Q. Since they are  islands, there is probably not enough land for  farming, 
so what is  their livelihood? 

A. I don't: know enough abut this .  The par t  which was around the former 
Zuider Zee, I judge was not an island. I don't know, Lo t e l l  you the 
truth. The name is  not too u n c m n ,  I understand, in Friesland. %meone 
traveling &re said they saw an Ynterna Garage and the Frisian f i r s t  
names are certainly not u n c m n  there but they sound very odd to  us. 

Q, Such as . . . 
A. fS hsband's  father 's  ms Dowe Bauke Yntema. 

Q. That's strange. 

A. It is unusual. His father's m, and his father was the inmigrant: 
to Holland, Michigan, was Wssel. And one of b u m  Rauke's brothers was 
Sjoerd--don't ask rw how t o  spel l  it. 

Q. So a l o t  of Frisians are i n  the Holland, Michigan area. 

A, Yes. I think probably most of the immigrants to Holland =re from 
Friesland, and there are certlainly a number of other Frisian narnes t h e r e -  
those that end in "gar' and '4na" or  "stra" and others that I don't rememkr 
are Frisian rather than lhtch. The group care led by the i r  pastor, a Van 
Raalte, Van Raalte sounds Dutch, doesn't: it? 

Q. Yes, it does. 

A. Reverend Van Raalte had come f i r s t  I believe and spied out a place 
for than to buy land which was on the shores of Lake Michigan, west of 
G r a n d  Rapids. They cane by bat: and by Erie Canal and the Great 'Lakes 
and landed for  awhile in what i s  now Lincoln Park, I believe, i n  micago. 
And there some of the children =re Euried, and I think including t m  of 
the Yntem children. There must have been an epidemic on the ship, 
probably some contagious disease. And then the ship w n t  across and 
landed at what i s  now Holland, Michigan. My husband's forebearen, 
Hessel Yntema and his wife Klaaska Ynterna and their several children, 
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went up the Black River a ways wich a boat to a place which became h o r n  
as Vriesland, and there is s t i l l  a small place b o r n  as Vriesland near 
Holland, Michigan. Other small toms around Iblland are named for 
other provinces of the Netherlands--bent, Overisel, New Gronigan, and 
Zeeland. Wnether or not the people d ~ o  spread out from Holland had caw 
from those provinces or whether they just wantled t o  nam than for  different 
places, I don't know. Pehaps you can find that in my mother-in-law's 
l i t t l e  booklet. 

Q. A l l  right. Maybe it gave than a sense of security to have familiar 
nams around. 

A. The country was virgin, practically--lots of forest which had to  k 
cleared for agriculture--and these people found that difficult.  They 
e r e  sea people rather than foresters, but they did clear their land and 
that f i r s t  winter they suffered much as the early pi lgr im with l i t t l e  
food and w i t h  their catt le having to feed upon tree branches. I wnder if 
they brought catt le with them, I don't hm.  So, it was a very difficult 
winter for them. Tnen the next year they had to get better housing than 
they =re able to p u ~  up at  f i r s t .  And then one of the f i r s t  things they 
did after just ga t ing  themselves properly housed, was to found a college-- 
Hope College-with the understanding that instruction wuld bE! i n  English 
although most of them did not h o w  Fhglish. But they =re going t o  
becomc Americans right away. 

Q. Is that college in  existence? 

A. It is  in edstence, and do you know Dennis Camp? 

Q. Yes .  

A. He is a graduate of it. You can ask him about that. 

Q. Yau wntioned Reverend Van  Raalte. W z a t  was the chrch? bhs this the 
IXltch Reformed Church? 

A. Yes, Dutch Reformed. 

Q. You mt your husband at  the University of Illinois? 

A. Right. 

Q. He was mrking on his Ph.D.? 

A, Right. %en I was a senior in chmistry at the university. 

Q. And his field was chds t ry?  

A. Yes.  

Q. The other day when you said chemistry, you got quite a reaction from 
me. (laughter) Fhy did you chose c h d s t r y  . . . had you always been 
interested in it? 
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A. a, I think I have always kind of wanted t o  knm what makes things 
wrk. I can raemkr as a child hatching a house being hilt across the 
s t ree t ,  and in those days there =re still some vacant l o t s  in the tom. 
I mst have been quite a small child kt was fascinated with how you got 
those pieces of mod made into the shape of a house. And how cauld 
people get pieces of cloth mde into dresses, and I still wmder how they 
got them made into dresses in those days because there were ruff les  and 
gussets , . , 
Q. And no patterns? 

A .  No, I think there =re probably pattems then. 

Q. But don't you think they =re probably basic pattems,  and you just 
kind of did your om th ing for design? 

A. I don't know . . . I doubt tha t ,  and I w i l l  t e l l  you d ~ y .  Because 
when I was a l i t t le  g i r l ,  t h i s  maternal cousin Fjho lived with us  for  a 
while was married and I can remember his wife s i t t ing  at  the sewing 
machine in our house making doll  clothes for me with patterns--with 
tissue paper pattems. And I thought that  was remarkable because they 
=re like grown-ups ' clothes. 

Q. That's interesting. I didn't: realize they had paper pat tems then. 
&en you wre seeing Mr. Ynterm, what did you do when you e r e  out on 
dates? Did you go to  the mvies? There e r e  mvies? 

A. Oh, yes, there w r e  s i l en t  movies. 

Q. kre  you usually with a group? 

A.  k =re very apt t o  be with a group. I had bm friends--there =re 
three of us--who were charistry majors, the only ones that I remember of 
tha t  class. %ere =re other g i r l s  in chemistry classes that were for  
d o r ~ s t i c  sciences but not chm majors. And the three of us and our 
friends =re often together. & belonged LO a chemical fraternity dmre 
and there Ere dances and that. There was even canoeing on  he big Crystal 
Lake. (laughter) 

Q. &11, I think I have such a r m t l i c  picture of that  time and ear l ier .  
I see the m n  on the bicycles-ki l t -for- tm with the picnic hamper and 
such . . . 
A. I think that  was a l i t t le  before my time. 

Q. Yes, certainly, but that  just always looked so romantic. Last tim 
w did talk abut: your mdding and your going on your honeymoon back t o  
Crossnore, and w spoke of the school. Then you cam back to  Urbana, or 
where did you go to live after your honeymoon? 

A. Back t o  Urbana, and w rented a house across Elm Street from friends 
of my parents--a house that they had hilt long ago, of course--who e r e  
going t o  l ive  that year i n  Florida. took over that rented house, and 
the next year E bu i l t  a small house on ashington Sreet in Urbana, 
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Q. Mr. Yntema was out of school, and had his  %.D. by this time. 

A. Yes, he was teaching a t  the university. 

Q. Ik taught a t  the university. 

A. Yes, at  the University of I l l inois.  

Q. For how long did he do that? 

A.  Until 1930. & =re married in 1923, and i n  1930 he bEcame head of 
the &emistry Deparmnt a t  St. Imis University. bk lived in bkbster 
Groves, ~ i c h  I loved. 

Q. It is a pretty s u h r b  of St. Louis. Besides Mary Kate, what children 
do you have? 

A. George is the middle one, and D o w e  . . . 
Q. Oh, namd for his grandfather . . . 
A. Y e s ,  he is the older one, and that: is  according to the good Frisian 
custm of naming. You name the oldest son for the paternal grandfather. 
My husband's father . . . wll, no, &cause several children died &fore 
he was born, that did not apply kt anyhow D o w e ,  my son huwe, is  n m d  
for his patemal grandfather Dome. And then you m d  the second son 
for the maternal grandfather. 

Q. Oh . . . George Busey. 

A. My husband was the second son so he m s  named for h is  nother's father, 
kmard .  His mther was not IXltch or Frisian. His older brother was 
n m d  Hessel for his patemal grandfather. ?hen you named the f i r s t  
daughter for the paternal g r a n b t h e r  and the second daughter for the 
maternal grandmother. And after that, you could have some choice. 

Q. So, you have tm boys and txo gir ls?  

A. Ttm boys and one g i r l ,  but Mary Kate is named for both grandrmthers. 

Q. Oh, all  right, &cause you said sawthing abut  your mthex was 
called Kit. 

A. My mother's name was Kate, but was called K i t  or Kitty. 

Q. And Mary Kate has always gone by the double n m ?  

A. Yes. 

Q. It's a pret ty mne.  So you lived in St. b u i s ,  o r  k b s t e r  Groves for 
how long? 

A, Until 1943, and that was a wr mve. w e d  to bkiukegan &ere 
konard was with Fans teel Eletallurgical Corporation. Fans teel  was oddly 
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enough founded by a man dmse father m s  one of the early I-blland s e t t l e r s ,  
and the narne was PEanstiehL . Carl Pfanstiehl was the nam of the father. 
Later he dissociated himself frm the mtal lurgica l  part  and Pfanstiehl 
mde rare sugars and various other things, and the mtal lurgica l  part 
anglicized the name to Fansteel. 

Q. You said th i s  was a wartime mve. a s  the Fansteel Company involved 
i n  war production? 

A. Yes.  

Q. And your llusband stayed with them until he retired? 

A. Y e s .  

Q. He didn't  go tack Lo teaching? 

A.  No. Retired as a Vice President. He e n t  as Director of Research 
for Fansteel bktallurgical Corporation. 

Q. And you lived i n  kukegan then a l l  that time? 

A, Pleasantly enough and strangely enough I had an aunt in FJaukegan of 
wham I was very fond. And she had found a house for  us t o  rent,  which 
was d i f f i cu l t  i n  wartim. k lived in that  house for tw years unti l  the 
owner of it decided she wanted to caw back. And with wartime restr ict ions,  
it was very easy for her t o  rake over very quickly. W mndered where w 
were going to be for  a while and it ms time for a much needed vacation 
which m had planned to  spend i n  Door Caunty, LSsconsin, kt there was no 
place for  us to  go. bk had visions of s i t t i ng  out on the sidewalk but 
this good aunt said, "bll, why don't you go ahead anyhow and maybe I can 
keep an ear open for a place to stay." Then she wrote us that she had 
found another place for us. 

Q. k i l e  you =re up in  Door County? 

A. k i l e  w were on vacation which was very mrthhile. bk were there 
unt i l  1956 when e bought th i r ty  acres of land and bui l t  a house about 
ten miles from kukegan near the village of kdsmr th .  

Q. Tne factory was in ktukegan? 

A.  The factory was in North Chicago which adjoins bkukegan on the south 
and is a long ways from Chicago. kukegan is forty miles from a icago  
and about forty miles from Milwaukee. 

Q. M~en your children were small . . . what =re there ages, howmny 
years apart e r e  they? 

A. From January un t i l  the next March I had three children under three 
years of age. 

Q. Clh. (laughs) You =re b s y .  Did you travel back t o  Urbana frequently 
to see your family? 
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A, Yes. Occasionally by bus, occasionally by t ra in ,  lut mre ap t  to  
drive. The drive then was a mch longer undertaking with three youngsters 
to keep happy and with roads that  Ere not like the highways now. 
Occasionally we wuld  go through Springfield. I can r m k r  our k ing 
very interested going one way or the other through Springfield seeing the 
lake for  the f i r s t  t b ,  which seemed r m k a b l e  out on the p ra i r i e .  And 
occasionally w muld go through Hillsboro or sometimes Edwardsville, 
Vandalia, varying the route back and forth. Tne roads =re equally bad. 

Q. No matter a i c h  route you took. Wen you e r e  small you took several 
t r i p s  t o  Florida and a t r i p  t o  California and that  mnderful t r i p  to  
Europe. Did you do extensive traveling on vacations like tha t  with your 
o m  children? 

A. We =re apt t o  spend the sumner or a good part of the summix near 
Holland, Michigan, at a cottage rented on the lake. I& spent quite a b i t  
of time with bther Yntana at  the old how &ich was then still outside 
the city limits of Holland, but which i s  now w e l l  within the c i t y  limits 
of Holland. I r m b e r  one other t r i p  with the children *ich w particularly 
enjoyed--driving t o  Creed, Colorado, and spending some tim in a cottage 
on a good trout stream. My hsband enjoyed that very much and ir: is the 
only kind of fishing I mch enjoy. It: i s  l o t s  of fun purting on h i p  
boots and walking up a k a u t i f u l  t rout  stream--mu& more interesting than 
s i t t i ng  in  a b a t  and waiting for  something t o  happen. Did you happen t o  
read Mike Royko t h i s  morning? 

Q. Yes. (laughter) Yes. I don't miss Mke Royko any morning. 

A. Yes ,  X am so glad Royko i s  now in the paper. 

Q. *en you w n t  to  Colorado, your Irusband mnt with you. But k e n  you 
m t  up to spend a sm-mw in the cabin, did he go back and forth? 

A. He was more apt t o  k staying and teaching suimer school. There 
muld be s m  t k  betwen sunmer school and the end of the regular term, 
and e wuld all drive up together and get set t led there. Then occasionally 
on wekends he might drive up, k t  that was real ly quite a l i t t l e  drive 
in those days. There =re occasional--I can remember a t  leas t  one sunmr 
when he didn't  teach a t  al l  in sumner school which was grand--and that  
was probably the time w e n t  out to  Colorado. I remember caning back 
from Colorado there were not the rmtels that there are now. There =re 
a p t  to  be touris t  homes *ere you could rent a room or small hotels. I 
remmkr renting rooms at leas t  twice on that t r i p  with tw double beds 
i n  them and putting the three children crosswise on one of the double 
beds. 

Q. That was probably a big adventure. I am sure they thought t h a t  was 
great. 

A. Y e s ,  great fun, 

Q. Did your sister l ive  in the Urbana area or--you said she wnt  out 
east to  school--did she care back t o  this area? 
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A. Yes.  She graduated in  1915 £ran Wellesley. She wxked a while for 
Catherine Wall McCullough who was one of Il l inois '  equal suffrage mrkers, 
going out into small toms organizing suffrage treetings. She used t o  say 
that: that was a very arduous thing. Train connections =re very odd, and 
you perhaps got your business done there and then perhaps there was hours 
to w a i t  around until you could leave or perhaps had to stay a11 night. 
She remmhred even for something to do, going to a funeral one day in 
sorne small town. 

Q. And didn' t know the person? 

A, No. (laughter) 

Q. Mil , that i s  being desperate for entertainment. She was in the area 
then, and your children h e w  their aunt. 

A. Oh, very much indeed. That was long before I was married, howver. 
And then after that she went to Qlicago and lived witlh a college friend 
who was from Springfield, by the my,  and her family d ~ o  =re then living 
i n  Chicago. She studied stenography there, and then w n t  with the Red 
Cross as a secretary to France. 

You asked earlier a b u t  the f lu  epidemic. I ranember her saying that on 
the boat on the way t o  England the flu struck mst of the boat and she 
herself had it badly. She could r m k r  a nurse on the b a t  asking her 
please to hurry whatever she was doing to take care of her because, she 
cmld hardly stand up herself. She then, too, collapsed with the f lu.  
She was taken off the boat, as =re m y  others, on a stretcher and for 
quite sometime was in a hospital or nursing horn or  d-iatever they called 
it: i n  England. Finally when recuperated, she w n t  to  France. She got: to 
Paris the day before the Armistice. That was a marvelous thing--that 
Armistice. h e n  she was out celebrating in the streets in  Paris because 
of the Armistice, she met up with D r .  kasley,  the husband of this Aunt I 
speak of in kukegan, and one of his m s t  brilliant doctors under him. 
Dr. Beasley had fo-d a medical unit to go to France and had been there 
for a couple of years. The tm of them were i n  Paris a t  the tirrae of the 
celebration . . . 
Q. And mt on the street. That is unklievable. 

A. Yes. She was always very close to  D r .  h s l e y  who was the second 
husband of the Aunt. The Aunt's f i r s t  h b a n d  was my uncle and he died 
after a b u t  six years of mrriage. Lhen Aunt Myra married Dr. Reasley, 
Dockie took over her nieces as &ugh he =re their om. hk called him 
Dockie or Doctor, 

Q. You called him bckie? My grandfather was Dockie to me, and I hadn't 
heard that for a while. That brings back good memories. I thidc I w i l l  
change the tape before w run out. 

Fnd of Side h e ,  Tape Three 
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Q. 'Ihe other day when I in tewiewd you, w over-ran one of the tapes, 
and you had told rn the story of Sophie, the dressmaker, and that was not 
on there. bbuld you t e l l  TIE again about her caning here? 

A. Yes, I think it is a l i t t l e  b i t  interesting--an example of what IE 
now ca l l  the American dream which was quite possible for  m y  people in 
those days. A s  to  when Sophie c m ,  I don't know, but I can just  remember 
her arriving with a baby. I was told dterward that she had grom up in  
Switzerland in a class which a t  leas t  sent her to  boarding school. She 
wanted adventure and she and some friend a t  the boarding school e r e  
eager t o  COKE t o  h r i c a  and s a ~ h o w  eventually they did. I don't know 
that she actually ran away but I think it ~s against: rhe wishes of the 
family at any rate. The tm of them did c m  t o  h r i c a  and somehow she 
got to the Middle k s t  and supported herself by sewing as people often 
did i n  tlmse days. A seamstress wuld  c m  to  the house for  a wek or so 
and muld  do a l l  the sewing, Tnen she w n t  back t o  Wtzerland--the 
French par t  of Switzerland--to marry Carl who .was frun the German part  of 
Switzerland and vho mrked for  a brber. Then a f t e r  her child was born 
she carne back again t o  Amrica, I guess to  help save mney t o  bring Carl, 
too. She and the baby had been recamended by some friend to  my mother, 
no doubt, and arrived a t  our house where she did the sewing. I believe 
my father sent mney t o  Carl for  him to  cum over then. 

A t  that: th rn had a block f ran the house a l o t  with a small house on it 
and a barn &ere the carriage horse and riding horse =re kept. Carl and 
Sophie w n t  to  l ive  in that  hause and Carl took care of the horses. He 
came up morning and night: t o  tend the coal furnace at  the house. He also 
m w d  the lawn and waxed the floors and did the heavy cleaning and so on 
and so forth. As I grew up the sewing muld  be done a t  Sophie's house 
and Carl eventually found mrk of s m  other sort  wZlich probably paid him 
more, and his tm sons sold Saturday Even- Post m,gazihes. Zhe- Saturday 
Evening Post offered t o  pay the i r  way t o  college as was often d o n e 7  
be1 ieve . 
Q. I did not know that. 

A .  Yes ,  they did that  often with the i r  particularly good salesboys. Wlt 
they turned down the offer.  They said living in a t o m  with a university 
they could finance it themselves--they e r e  very hard mrkers.  k e  
became an accountant, a cer t i f ied  accountant I am sure, and one a lawyer. 
Carl, the father,  eventually kc- the superintendent of the boiler and 
tlhe cleaning and so on at  Carle Hospital. I thirik tEs is just  one other 
instance of how things did wxk out fo r  an innnigrant in  those days. 

Q. 'Plzat is  a lovely story, Iutl I think it is  unusual that the wife and 
baby cam aver. Didn't the b b a n d  usually cune over f i r s t ?  

A. &It Sophie by that  t h ,  yau see, had friends here and had the ab i l i ty  
to earn a living. 

Q. kll, that was not on the tape and I did want to  get it down, Also, 
when you e r e  m t i o n i n g  your grandfather's h m ,  you said that  you 
ranembered going there h e n  he ms ill and you gave him your ragdoll. 
That was Simon? 
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A. Yes. 

Q. He died i n  1901. 

A. You certainly did your h m f k  will 

Q. B u t  you were three years old. I thirk that i s  mnderful that you 
remembered giving him that ragdoll. 

Qll, I can just barely ranember that. I have another m r y  that is 

There's the teakettle. 

Ah, good for  you. (tape stopped) 

I have a question fo r  you. Last time you =re talking abu t  being 
k d l e d  up in a blanket and carried by Ivory. And you said I '11 t e l l  you 
about Ivory, and w never did get back t o  Ivory. So tell  n-e about Ivory. 

A. &ll, Ivory preceded Carl i n  taking care of the horses. 

Q. oh. 

A.  Ivory, I am told, appeared in tom--he m s  a tramp, a Negro. And his 
nam really was Ivory. He was tramping and he stopped off i n  Urbana. 
Evidently he got wrk someplace and somehow or  other got t o  my father,  
and Father hired him to take care of the horses at this same barn. There 
was a tiny cubicle i n  the barn where he slept.  I believe at  that  t i m e  my 
mther ' s  nephew Gary Baker, of whom I spoke before, and his bride were 
living in that  house out: by the  barn. 

Ivory b e c m  a fixture and very mch a part of my childhood. I was very 
fond of him. It was Ivory then who did the cleaning and took care of the 
horses. (he of the things I remember my cousin's wife saying--she complained 
about hearing Ivory cane home at  night: t o  the barn. He was bringing 
so~body  else with him [and] she did not approve of that.  They were 
histling- [she thought] there =re tw of them h i s t l i n g .  But it seemed 
that Ivory could whistle out of tw holes i n  his l ips  at the sate  t h  so 
it sounded like tm people. 

Q. He  could do a duet? 

A. (laughs) bk11, not exactly a duet, k t  it sounded like two people. 
That was one of the talents that  Ivory had. After a while Ivory did 
mrk for o t h r  people. Evenixally he had his om l i t t le  business of 
pmts  pressing--pressing roen's clothes. By t h a t  tim Carl had cam to 
l ive  in that house and the cousin had mved onto a house that he hilt. 

Ivory was always very much available for any kind of wrk you wanted 
done. bhen my mother muld be entertaining with a number of people, it 
was Ivory who muld be the doorman. There was a l i t t le  seat under which 
you could put rubbers and on the back of which you cauld hang coats in 
the vestibule of the house. I v o q  muld s i t  on that seat waiting t o  open 
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the door, and I wu ld  s i t  on his lap. (laughter) I was known as Babe. 
Always unt i l  Ivory died, I was known as Babe. I was very fond of him. 

Q. Wow old do you think Ivory was when he tax t o  mrk? 

A. I have no idea. He always looked to roe the sane age. I don't know. 

Q. a r e  there m y  negroes in Urbana a t  the time? 

A. Not many in Urbana. In  Umpaign there were a number, and one of 
them I got to  know l a t e r  and was fond of said that her parents, I believe 
both parents--could they have both been slaves? Possibly, Anyhow, at 
leas t  they still mrked for  the people on h o s e  plantations they had 
grom up i n  the south, bhen they carne with their children t o  live in 
Chqaign in not a very good house, a very draf ty  house, and not being 
used to  the cold winters, that l i f e  was quite d i f f icul t .  Par t icular ly  in  
the matter of the cold and somebody said t o  them, Tow if you will take 
newspapers and put betwen the sheets and what comforters you have mny 
layers of newspapers, you w i l l  k mch warmer." And that is h a t  they 
did,  and kept the children warm enough. I thought that was very clever 
indeed. And they e r e  mngst the old s e t t l e r  Negro people of Champaign. 

Q. &ere m s  Ivory's ha=? Did you know? 

A. I don' t think he ever had any. 

Q. But he had came up fran the south you think? 

A. He had jus t  been a roustabout and a tramp. There *re tramps i n  
those days, W don't have tramps any mre, do we? 

Q. There =re tramps during the Depression. I ronember those. 

A. But betwen the Depression and q i t e  a ways back, there tiere no tramps , 
were there? But I can ranember tramps caning to  the door and asking for 
a handout at the backdoor. 

Q. h t  did they want to  mrk or did they just  want: a handout? 

A. I think they just: wanted a handout. It varied, I believe. 

Q. I know during the Depression &en they came to  our house, they muld 
ask to  wrk for  food. 

A, Yes, very definitely. 

Q. So Ivory, as f a r  as you know, never had any connection with a family. 

A. No, no. 

Q. You e r e  his family. 

A .  Yes ,  very mch. In fact it mst have been aftler I was pre t ty  nearly 
grown, Ivory tlhought he had gotten into s m  kind of a scrape. He  had 
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been with somebody and there had been a fight and somebody cane off the 
wrst of it, I guess, and Ivory had nothing t o  do a b u t  it but he was 
scared to  death. He ran and hid in my grandmother's coal cellar for  a 
while. Eventually anyhm, he was brought up before a judge and they asked 
some question to  h i c h  h i s  response m s  , "I ' 11 have t o  ask my pa. " The 
judge said, "Wm is your pa?" He said, 'W, George Busey." (laughter) 

Q. &, I love it. k11, that is quite a compliment that he f e l t  that 
close to  your family. 

A. It was quite a joke around the courthouse. 

Q. I'll bet. 

A. %en my father died . . . 
Q. Naw, when was tha t?  

A. 1944. Ivory was there right away. And he said,  "Babe, what do you 
want me to  do?" I said, " b k l l ,  I don't how, Ivory, maybe you had ktter 
jus t  watch the door." He said, 'That's what I hoped you wmld say." 

Q. Oh, that  is  mnderful. That: real ly is a mnderful story. You had 
said that  you wanted izo tell rw about Ivory l a t e r ,  and we missed it, so I 
am glad w cau&t up on Ivory. He stayed i n  Urbana un t i l  he died? 

A. Oh, yes. There for  a while--at the time he "was going t o  ask h i s  
Pa"--he had th i s  pants pressing hsiness. But for a long tk he was a 
drayman. If you wre going on the train, you called somebody like that 
to  tdw yaur trunks t o  the depot. And Ivory did that sor t  of thing. And 
I can remakr, long after I was married, Ivory muld sometimes c a l l  m 
and say, "Babe, what i s  so and so ' s  telephone number? b o k  it up for 
m." Because he could not: read or w r i L e .  

Q. Did he l ive  in a roan or did he have some sor t  of house? 

A. By tha t  t ime he had a house and he had married. 

Q. Oh. kll, w got Ivory cleared up. You mentioned at  one point that 
your s i s t e r  had worked for someone involved in  the suffrage mvernent. 

A. Y e s ,  that was that one year. 

Q. Wre you or  your ~mthe r  involved in suffrage? 

A. My mther  always was .  She was very happy to  be able t o  take ne down 
fo r  both of us  to  cast our first presidential vote--what year ~s that? 
kll, anyhow, here was I . . . 1920, I believe . . , I was probably 22 
years old, kt it was also her first vote. And she w s  very happy. She 
had always mrked for  suffrage and probably her mther  wuld  have and her 
older sister very much did so wt in kshington s ta te ,  Frm the letters 
she wrote, I sor t  of a t t r i t u t e  the fac t  chat the s t a t e  of kshington got 
m m ' s  suffrage before the rest of us did to  Aunt Lizzie. She mrked so 
hard a t  it, 
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Q. U s  Aunt Kiz your mther 's  sister? 

A. No, her aunt. My great-aunt. 

Q. Aunt Lizzie was your mther 's sister.  

A. Yes .  

Q. I wish I had known Aunt Kiz. 

A.  Oh, yes, I am glad I knew Aunt Kiz. Of course, I was l i t t l e ,  and did 
not know her as I muld have i f  I had been older. One of the things I 
remernber about her after she wnt  down and sonaehow or other got together 
a stool for TE was that she said there a r e  no children araund and nothing 
for m to  play with. So she bought me a deck of cards, and knowing I was 
fond of cats, with cats on the backs of than. Then she taught me to play 
W i e l d  Solitaire because you lay out the cards and see the backs of 
them. To this day it i s  the only soli taire I can remember. 

I was thinking of sounds of those days and silence. It seems to  me you 
can never get silence anynore. 

Q. Right. 

A. Wit: they did ring the bell a t  the f i re  house with a code that told 
which ward of the tom the f i r e  was in. That makes IIE remember that down 
in the next block was the Presbyterian Qlurch vhich had a very nice bell, 
and they rang church bells in those days, too. On Sunday mrning you 
muld hear the church bells. Do you ever hear a church bell anynore? 

Q. Yes, they have a church bell that is electronically reproduced at 
b k s h s t e r  and at: First frlethodist. 

A.  7hey do? Well, I just don't: remember hearing church bells anymore. 
In fact I don't remankr hearing than i n  Urbana later. And I can remember 
king out in the yard and th ings =re quiet. You might hear somebody's 
back screendoor slam or after a while you muld hear a clop-clop-clop of 
horses caning down the brick pavement, ht there was quiet in  betwen. 
13ow yau can just never find . . . there i s  almst always an engine of 
some sort.  

Q. Or piped-in m i c  . 
A.  Or piped-in m i c .  Right you are. ( laughs ) Nee since then I have 
real ly heard silence which was deli&t£ul. Once my husband and I were 
driving in Death Valley and the places &ere you can stay are far apart 
from one end to the other. Fk3 were half-way between at  night and w just 
stopped the car, turned off the lights, turned off the engine, and a l l  
those beautiful stars were so close you could almst  touch them. There 
wasn't a light . . . you can scarcely get amy from lights anymore, in 
the carntry even, Every farm has a big light, You don't see the s ta r s  
as ~ 1 1 .  And then there was this perfect quiet. 
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Another t ime  was &en George, Mary Kate, and my husband and I were on the 
Colorado River, Glen Canyon. A beautiful place that  those darned engineers 
have ruined. bk e r e  floating in  rowboats down the Glen Canyon and 
sleeping on the sandbanks at night, and again you could see the s tars  and 
there was nothing, But once in a a i l e  there muld be a l i t t l e  sound 
when a b i t  of the sandbank had c m b l e d  back into  he water, And then 
just a b u t  midnight once, way up high there ws an a i r l ine r  tha t  w n t  
over. And that  ws a l l .  The res t  was quiet. 

Q. *en you =re crossing on the Death Valley t r i p ,  when was that? 

A. b k l l ,  that was 1958, a b u t .  Oh, no, Death Valley, oh, it: was about 
then, too. 

Q. There =re no other cars? No one came by or passed you? 

A. No, no. You had som? idea of what the pioneers . . . of course when 
they crossed Death Valley, it msn't: too . . . 
Q. b y  mren ' t  looking at  the s ta r s ,  I 'm, sure . . . 
A. Probably not. (laughs) 

Q. But I am mndering i f ,  now, i f  you =re mt there-things have changed 
so--I wnder i f  you muld fee l  safe pulling your car over and stopping 
like that. 

A. I don ' t know, I wnder how much it: has changed. 

Q. But it was a happy TIlRIMry for  you. 

A. Yes, delightful. Unfortunately, Glen Canyon i s  very much changed. 
A t  that  tim w walked--was it six miles--£ran the r iver  up to  the famrxls 
Rainbow Bridge in  August, i n  hot wather.  As my husband said, "It ws 
twelve miles back." (laughter) But it was m r t h  it. It was a marvelous 
natural bridge. There m s  a l i t t le  place at  the bottom of one bttress 
of the bridge where there was a spring of water and smbody  had left 
same paper cups there. And w certainly enjoyed drinking that: m t e r .  
Now, they roar r ight  up to  the bridge in tmtorboats. No m r e  quiet! 

Q. Very true. You =re speaking abut driving. Wen did you learn t o  
drive? h t  is the f i r s t  car in the family that you remember? 

A. My father bu&t his  f i r s t  car *en w got back frm that  famous t r i p  
t o  Europe. 

A. That muld be 1909, and it was a Mamn. 

Q. I have never heard of that. 

A. k11, it isn ' t  made any mre. I can retnemkr his f i r s t  car and his 
second cars -re Mamns, and his being pleased that  the Mamn w n  the 
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race down on the Daytona Beach flats in  Florida. Do they still have that 
race? 

Q. Yes.  They had it then? 

A. I think it wn it a t  70 or  80 d l e s  an haur, o r  something l ike  that. 

Q, This was a touring car? 

A. Yes. And I can' t  rammkr i f  there ws a hood that  e n t  back and 
that  you could bring up . . . I just don't know. I think it was an open 
car. However, there wre doors a t  the back seaL on each side, Ixzt not on 
Che front seat. And then the second Mamn he bought had doors on the 
front seat. I remember my s i s t e r  objecting b i t t e r ly  because she f e l t  so 
closed in. (laughter) 

Q. Then you just kind of grew up with a car? So then you just automatically 
drove it when you =re fifteen or  sixteen? 

A, Yes. 

Q. I remember my dad said he drove a car into Springfield *en he was 
abut txelve years old because his dad needed a part for  the t ractor ,  and 
there ~s no such thing as a driver 's license. 

A. Right. men did I get a driver 's license? I think not un t i l  I wnt  
t o  Waukegan, and w writ there in 1943. Did I t e l l  you a b u t  someone 
saying, "hhy do you wantw--what I had was an Ope1 with a s t ick  shift--& 
trying to  get it repaired for  something or other in kukegan, the man 
said he didn't  wxk on stick shifts. And he said, "&11, what does an 
old lady like you mt a s t ick  sh i f t  for  anyhow?" (laughter) I thuught , 
"Oh, I was driving a st ick shift before you w r e  born, young man." 

Q. The kids love them now. 

A. Oh, yes. It is supposed to  k sporty nw. 

Q. I learned on one, too, Eut the st ick sh i f t s  now don't have the gears 
in the s a m  place as when I learned. 

A. No? Mine m s  tlhe same, except for  the reverse. 

Q. Right, It 's sawhere way over i n  the comer where it shouldn't be. 
Then, you and your sister =re a l l m d  to  use the car? 

A. Oh, yes. My mther never drove. 

Q. Oh, she did not. I 'm surprised. 

A. Yes, I am, too. Now tha t  I think of it I am surprised, too, 

Q. I asked you kefore w started taping and you said you los t  your 
husband in 1976. And you maintained your hame in hikegan then for 
several years before you came down here. 



Jean Busey Yntema 

A. Until 1982. 

Q. Did you sell it a t  that t ime?  

A. No, it is rented. V e r y  happily rented t o  a man d ~ o  is a natural is t  
and his wife who teaches school, and who appreciate the sarrre sor t  of 
things that I did there. 

Q. You still have the acreage? New hams haven' r: encroached upon your 
land? 

A. TJo, I s t i l l  have t:he acreage. 

Q. k11, that is  delightful that  someone i s  using it the way that  you 
did. You should fee l  good about that. 

A. The l a s t  t ime  he wrote . . . maybe that has been a year now . , . and 
he probably has increased his bird list since then, txlt then it was 
ninety variet ies  of birds tha t  he had seen on the place. I wouldn't: 
know ninety variet ies  of birds i f  I saw t:hem. 

Q. I wouldn't: either . But that is  quite a number. 

A. And also, three kinds of salamanders. (laughs) 

Q. Salamanders? I don't think I knew there wre three kinds. 

A, I thought there was only one kind of salammder. 

h d  of Side mo, T a p  Three 

Q. Wlen m first star ted wxking on this, I came out to  talk with you 
and rn =re in the l ibrary,  and I ccmnented on the beautifully cawed 
desk. Now t e l l  IW about that  desk. 

A. k11, it was carved by my mther  . My mther  g r e w  up i n  Cobden, 
I l l ino i s ,  She did not remember her mther at  al l .  She was born in 1855, 
i n  Ripon, Msconsin, where my grandfather and my g r a n b t h e r  and her 
three older s i s t e r s  and her older brother lived d t e r  the Ceresco Colony 
was disbanded. In 1859 my grandfather who had then mr r i ed  Maria Mitchell 
bought land frun the I l l ino i s  Central Railroad which was sel l ing off i ts 
lands given by the government at: South Pass, I l l ino i s ,  which becam 
Cobden. My mother had no memory of Ripon. I do not know just &en my 
grandfather and Maria Mitchell E r e  married, Eut: anyhow they mved then 
t o  South Pass. 

My mother's f i r s t  m r y  of her s t e p t h e r  was of her giving her a small 
gold ring, and on her deathbed she wanted  that ring to  be given to  Mary 
Kate. %ich she st i l l  has, and I guess can get on her l i t t le  finger. She 
was very fond indeed of her s t e p t h e r ,  and then she was brought up on 
t h i s  h i l l top  at Cobden. She tent  t o  school down in the vi l lage and the 
schoolteacher was a Miss bhite--Miss Helen bhite. She was her f i r s t  
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school teacher anyhow. And 1 judge it mt: have been quite a good school. 
It was a rather unusual colony down there, many of the people having com 
frun that Ceresco Colony. ?hey mre individualists and freethinkers and 
abolitionists i n  a border s t a t e  idhere a mrsha l l  appearing at  the door 
could be shot. 

Schooling rmst have been pretty good in  those days. I am sure Miss m i t e  
kept a good school because I knew her. A t  l eas t  un t i l  I was married, she 
used t o  caw sometimes and spend the h o l e  s m r  at  our house. And w 
wxe  a l l  very fond of "Wtey" Wte, who was the last person I knew who 
m r e  long dresses, dawn alrmst to  the ground, and a l i t t le  bonnet , . . 
an old lady's bonnet. I think she mt have k e n  the l a s t  person to  wear 
such a bonnet. 

Q, You man she looked like an Amish maan? 

A. NO, no. 

Q. She didn't always mar black or  dark blue? 

A. Oh, no, they wren't l ike  a sunbonnet type of thing. Dear E, how 
can I describe the old ladies '  bonnets? 

Q. More l ike a h a t ?  

A. Y e s ,  more like a hat. I will have to find a Godey's Ladies Book, I 
suppose. (laughter) 

Q. h y ,  I know what you man . . . like a hat.  

A. Miss bhite was a very well-educated person. I was wndering about 
education of people i n  my father 's  day in Urbana. I still  mnder just  
what the education was. Anyhow, even though I don't think he graduated 
fran the eighth grade, he had excellent: handwriting, and could write and 
spel l  beautifully as I cannot. So, sornehow they got schooling, I don't 
know how. My mthe r  then taught school when she was very young in  Cobden 
and then mt t o  l ive with an older s i s t e r  who was a r t  director a t  St. 
h u i s  schools. I suppose mybe that =ant going around from school to  
school. 

Q. A vis i t ing  a r t  teacher? 

A. She lived with Aunt Lizzie there and l a t e r  w n t  to  Cincinnati to  a 
carving school run by a man that taught canring and was interested i n  
teaching cawing t o  wmen k i c h  ms a l i t t le  unusual. Then she got a job 
teaching carving a t  Hanrpton Inst i tute .  

Q. &ere is that? 

A. -ton Ins t i tu te  is  a t  Hapton, Virginia, and was founded by a 
General Armstrong. General Armstrong had a troop of Negro soldiers 
during the Civil War, and he himself was raised, I believe, in  bwaii of 
missionary parents. After the war he realized that these Negroes should 
have some training, so he founded a school for  Negroes and Indians i n  
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Hampton . . . a college. I got out some pictures of it I cmld show you 
that are rather rmrkable kt that mn' t  go on your tape, 

Q. I muld like to see them. 

A.  Mary Kate and I i n  1980 went to -ton Institute when w =re in 
Virginia for my granddaughter's graduation a t  the University of Virginia, 
because I had always heard so mch a b u t  it. I was very interested in 
the church there which has inside al l  a r m d  under the balcony and in  
other places, a i c h  I don't know how to explain because I don't how the 
architectural terms, rows and rows of heads . . . alternate heads of a 
Negro, an Indian, a Negro, an Indian. My nother mst have been there at 
t:he t h  the chrch was king  kilt because the architect or the builder 
gave her tm of those heads, and I was very interested in seeing them 
there. I ' 11 get them and show than to you. ( tape stopped) 

Q. It i s  carved out of stone? 

A. I think it is probably cast concrete, 

Q. Tnat i s  probably nine or ten inches t a l l  and four inches wide, and 
those Ere a l l  the way around the inside of . . . 
A, A l l  the way around under the balcony. But so high that you could 
scarcely t e l l  what they =re. 

Q. 'Ihose are lovely. 

A, The man who m s  the librarian there m s  very gracious and took us to 
see the church and got out from his archives s m  of the old journals of 
the school with some articles of my mther's and a b u t  the drawings, the 
importance of it, and so on. She had friends who taught there, and 
through a l l  her l i f e  she kept in tauch with at  least: a couple of the 
teachers . . . all, so far as I how, white teachers. One was frun New 
Eslgland. Then after that she wnt  to Champaign and wrked for her 
brother-in-law who was editor of - The Gazette in  Qzmpaign. And it was 
there . . . 
Q. Wlere she heard a b u t  the need for a teacher. 

A. Yes, for the teacher on the Indian reservation. 

Q. You just have the one sis ter  and had the one brother tho died when he 
m s  very young? But your rmther . . . I have that she was 38 when you 
=re born, does that sound righr? 

A. Yes. 

Q. You said you didn't how a b u t  your father's education, and I think 
the fact that he w s  out on that Indian reservation and wrote back the 
interesting articles . . . 
A. That certainly does say he did get an education, like dozens of other 
lxlsinessmen of that era. But one just wnders what the schools =re 
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l ike .  Recause it seems to  me that they =re better educated than m y  of 
our high school people are now. 

Q. I am sure that  is  true. I think it m s  just  a good basic education, 
and now there are so m y  tangents brought: in. k11, that desk is just 
lovely. And I think it is interesting that a wman m s  a mod carving 
instructor. That is a delightful. story. 

A. k11 now, I had a friend d ~ o  . . . 
Q. There's the doorbell. (tape stopped) 

A. 'kat was my neighbor ' s daughter. I keep a b y  in case they need it. 

Q. k had just finished talking about your mther .  You have that  one 
desk and then the . . . 
A. That is an easel. There ws a time when tht  m s  the chic thing to 
have in your house. You generally draped s m  fancy shawl or  samething 
over it. 

Q. Or a mrk of art? 

A .  Yes ,  o r  a mrk of a r t .  The easel was one of the fad things to have. 
It is now a l i t t le  difficult t o  find a place for  it, lxlt it is same of 
her nicest carving. I like the thing up there, too. me re  are several 
things i n  this roan and the table i n  there, 

Q. lhat is  so nice t o  have a11 those things of your mther's. 

A. I have been told rhat one of those many tines when I was in  bed 
quarantined with measles or something, my mother taught: my father modcarving, 
and I believe the screen in front of the fireplace in the other roan was 
one they carved together. He cmldn ' t  leave the house. (laughs). 

Q. Did you or your s i s t e r  learn it? 

A. No, and I never saw her doing it except mch l a t e r  my father m s  
showing a couple of young friends that te had how to do it ,  and she 
helped a l i t t l e  bit then. 

Q. HDW old was yuur mther  when she died? 

A. She died in 1934. 

Q. Oh, she died a long time before your father did. 

A. She died of pnemnia which i s  now pretty w e l l  wiped out. A n m k r  
of things have been pretty wll wiped out now . , . polio, for instance. 

Q. Oh, yes. That was such a scare when I was growing up. During the 
Depression, since your family had ken  in banking, =re there any bank 
closures i n  Qlampaign or Urbana? 
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A. Yes, there =re. Pracrically a l l  of them during the Crash. Bankers 
in those days, as you probably knm, e r e  l iable  for  not only the stock 
they had in the  bank but the same amount of money. 

Q, No, I didn't  know that. 

A. No? Oh, that made banking very different in  those days. My 
mther-in-law ' s inheritance, because her husband had died kf ore the 
Depression . . . she los t  not only the bank stock but an equal amount of 
mney. You didn't  know tht  bankers . . . 
Q. No, I thought just  the depositors los t  their mney because there was 
no Federal Deposit Insurance. 

A. I%, tha t  i s  just: since the Depression days. I remember an interesting 
conversation one t h  with my father s i t t i ng  on the porch when he was an 
old m, and another old TIHI came dropping in. I was interested in their 
conversation about banks. This was a m n  from H m r ,  I l l ino i s ,  who had a 
bank there and he a s  talking a b u t  the days he had heard a b u t  frml his 
parents. Abut how h i s  mther  used t o  s i t  at the south window of the 
l i t t le  house a t  a certain time of year, henever she could, t o  w t c h  for  
a cloud of dust coming from the south. Her husband m l d  have been down 
south and driving up ca t t l e ,  and he muld IE gone a long time of course, 
and she was watching for  that return. Then he said that  his father 
probably drwe the ca t t l e  on to  Chicago t o  market. But neighbors who had 
a f e w  head muld ask him to  take the i rs ,  too, and then bring back the 
mney for  it and do other financial errands for  them sometimes i n  micago. 
And according t o  him that was real ly the beginning of banking in the 
early days in the midwst. Sanebody d ~ o  w s  trusted did the financial 
errands for  others of the ccxrmsmity , and f ina l ly  s e t  up a bank. I thought 
that was a very interesting b i t  of barking history. 

Now about the matter of double jeopardy as it were for  the banker i n  
those days. I can ranember my father writing, by tha t  time w =re 
living in Wbster Groves, about being about able  t o  reopen the bank i n  
Gmpaign A i c h  he ws principal stockholder of. By tha t  time he m s  
almst ready t o  r e t i r e ,  and had an e z e l l e n t  cashier under him who b e c m  
president of the bank. He had already had to  sell his farm and he said, 
"I've got an estimate on the value of the house. So and so says it muld 
be m r r h  $25,000. (This was a house and six c i t y  lots .) I can borrow so 
mch f ran a cousin and I think yaur mther  has $1,000 in  building and 
loan. I think i f  I can get: these t h ings  together, in a couple of weks I 
can open the bank." And then he wrote that he could not get the mney 
frm the cousin because she had to use it: for  something e lse  . . . she 
was in the s a w  p r e d i c m t .  That was the sor t  of thing that went on 
with the closing and reopening of the bank. 

The m i c i p a l  bonds down i n  Lawrenceville o r  s m p l a c e  tha t  I have are no 
good. They had to  renege on those. That so r t  of t:hing wnt  on w i t h  
small t o m  bankers a l l  over, 

Q. Frm the time it closed until  it reopened, how long was that? Do you 
have any idea? 
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A .  No. 

Q. k e k s ,  months, years? 

A. Oh, within the same year. 

Q. So, it was a matter of mnths until everybody could regroup. 

A. About sel l ing the house f o r  $25,000 which muld have nude him unhappy, 
I am sure, because he had lived there for  so long and loved his trees and 
gardens. The fac t  that  he didn't have to  include Chat was d m  to  foresi&t 
on the par t  of my mother, I think. Recause d ~ e n  w =re children w had 
allowances, and as soon as  the allowance got t o  be $5.00 when rn wxe 
qui te  a b i t  older--= w r e n ' t  t iny l i t t le  ones--perhaps it was less than 
that, 1 t rot ted down t o  the b i l d i n g  and loan and took out one share 
every mnth with my do1 l a r  . (laughter) Because in those days you could 
put in  a dollar and in  six and a half years you got back $100. Six per 
cent interest  that was, cmnpounded. Buildings and loans =re qu i te  
different i n  those days from what they are now. Now fney have becm 
banking ins timtions . 
Q. Yes, they have. 

A. Now there is practically no difference betwen them and banks. But 
they were very different, they =re real ly a Euilding and loan and people 
took out shares and then they had established credit  and they could 
borrowmney to  h i l d  a house. Anyway as the allowance increased as rn 
got: older, my mther  one time said to  my father, 'Why do you give those 
g i r l s  so mch mney a mnth? Lhy don't yau give the investments that: 
generate that  mch rmney, and l e t  tlhem look a f t e r  them?'' And he did. I 
tlhink they =re Lawrenceville bonds. . . that  is the reason I happen to  
remmber Lawrenceville. Because I remember they disappeared. And so he 
did and perhaps it taught us a l i t t l e  b i t  of business sense anyhow. I 
can't r-kr how th i s  w n t  it m s  a l l  so long ago. But my sister and I 
had taken out a mrtgage on the house, so w had that  mch  mney that 
could go into the bank. 

Q. Your mther died during a l l  this? Or a l i t t l e  later, 1934? 

A. No, the Depression was in 1929, wasn't it? 

Q. Yes, the Crash. After your mther died, your father stayed there in 
the house? 

A. Y e s ,  and my sister. My sister had . . . 
Q. Your s is ter  never married? 

A. No. After the . . . how f a r  did w get with my s i s t e r?  

Q. bk got her to  Paris on Annistice Day. (laughter) And w l e f t  her 
there. 
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A. After the Armistice she =nt t o  Geneva as  secretary fo r  the head of 
the Red Cross for a year o r  so. In 1920 I graduated f r m  the university, 
and I met her in  Paris. bk w n t  back to  Geneva and she finished up her 
stint there, Then the tm of us had a wnderful and remarkable t r i p  down 
t o  Yugoslavia. After that &en she came hck  home, she star ted graduate 
wxk at  the University of I l l ino i s  and got her doctor's degree there and 
then she taught a t  the university un t i l  shortly before she died. She 
re t i red  not so long before that, but she s t i l l  did correspondence courses . . . university correspondence courses. I would always see her grading 
papers . 
Q. %at was her f ie ld?  

A. Literature. 

Q. Oh. And she had studied L i t  a t  k l l e s l e y  as an undergrad? 

A. I don't know what her major ms tlhere. I real ly don't know. 

Q. kll, she had an interesting career. Fhen she came back t o  go t o  
school and also to  mrk, she lived there in  the house with your father? 

A. Yes.  Tnere wsrs a time before she began teaching a t  the university 
that she mrked for  the book s u p p l e n t  of the New York Herald T r i b e ,  a 
paper that I think is no longer w i t h  us. =en %iasr-eherman, who 
was a Literature professor a t  the University of I l l ino i s ,  went to  be 
editor for  that  book supplement, she =nt t o  New York, too. She mrked 
on the paper under R i t a  Van Doren, the wife of Carl Van Doren, who was 
somehow or other mrking under Stuart Pratt Sherman. 

Tnen, I think a b u t  the tim when one of my children was born, she was i n  
southern France doing some research there. I rea l ly  have forgotten h a t .  
Then she cam back and taught a t  the university--poetry being her particular 
f ie ld .  

Q. 'fell E about your t r i p  to  Yugoslavia with her, 

A. She had given up her job wirh the Red Cross and e were about to carne 
back horn &en at the Red Cross office, it was said that  somebody or 
other there was going t o  Yugoslavia--a Red Cross courier and somone 
e lse  who was t o  mrk at  a hospital or  orphanage in  Montenegro. Tne 
person in the off ice said, "Wl , why don't you go along? You  s t i l l  have 
Red Cross credentials so you can get a visa. You have to go on an I t a l i an  
boat, kt with your Red Cross credentials you can do thatl." So the tm 
of us did. 

The bat stopped at  Trieste. Tnat was just at  the time there ws a great 
deal of controversy beteen I t a l y  and Yugoslavia over Fim. President 
Wilson had rather sided with the Yugoslavians in  t h i s  dispute, so that 
though our b a t  stopped a t  ports a l l  along the coast of Yugoslavia and 
t ied up a t  night because there =re st i l l  possibly mines there--so w 
didn't  want t o  travel a t  night--= could getl off the b a t .  And xie generally 
did get off the b a t  at those stops and have dinner on shore and wre 
welccmd . , . just her Red Cross h t t o n  was enough. k were h r i c a n s .  
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W& =re siding with the right side. !3 w stopped a t  such places as 
Spalato where part of the American f l ee t  was i n  the harbor, I can see 
yetl t h i s  great ruin of Diocletian's Palace in Spalato with ,wide, wide 
steps down t o  a plaza, and a very drunk k r i c a n  sa i lor  reeling down the 
steps. As I said,  w =re x e l c m  any place there. My sister had an ear 
for  languages and although there was a Cyrill ic alphabet, it wasn't very 
long before she ws picking up enough ab i l i ty  to  order i n  Serbian. 
Another stop MIS a t  Paoli ,  and eventually dom t o  Ragusa. Ragusa by that 
t ime had had i t s  name changed t o  i t s  old name of Dubrovnik. So there w+ 
got off the b a t  along with the Red Cross courier. 

Fmd of Side One, Tape Four 

A: A doctor Eran the hospital at: Montenegro mt us a t  Dubrovnik-and remember 
Dubrovnik was a perfectly fascinating, picturesque place in those days--and 
I remmber having dinner on an outdoor terrace with the doctor and a 
friend of his who was returning to Montenegro a f t e r  having been ~JI exile 
for  a vihile. He and Mazaryk of Czechoslovakia had been in  &le together 
somwhere for the i r  pol i t ica l  ac t iv i t ies .  But with the war over, he was 
able t o  remrn. He invited me to come and teach Fmglish down there a t  
Cetinje. To th i s  day I mnder what  it wuld  have been l ike  had I gone to  
Cetinje as I was sorely tempted to do. But anyhow it was a very romantic 
c i t y  out on a terrace a t  night with the skyline of the old castle of 
Dubrovnik as  a backdrop. 

The next day m rnet a Standard O i l  nun--what he had to  do with Standard 
O i l  I don't remember--who m s  eager to do a l i t t l e  sightseeing there, 
too. And he and Garreta and I took a l i t t le  b a t  over t o  the island, 
swhdng  part of the way along with the b a t  in  th is  lxautiful clear 
water. Dear m, I can't  think of the narne of the island now, which is 
too bad. Anyhow it was the place where the future emperor of Mexico had 
a s-r home--Maximilian, And they told us there . . . Lacrema was the 
nam of  he island , . . that  then he had received the news Lhat he had 
been selected to  becorrae emperor of Mexico that he had jumped out of bed, 
and the bed had overturned he did it wirh such vigor. And Ehey st i l l  
showed you the overturned bed. I think I read someplace else that that 
was not where he received the news, ht it makes for  a good story. 

Then one day KE =re w i t k g  around at Dubrovnik . . . ell, before w 
had this t r i p  e thou&t it muld be nice to swim i n  that  water, kt 
didn' t have any bathing su i t s ,  bk w n t  t o  a l i t t l e  shop to  b y  sme and 
had great d i f f icul ty  explaining just what w wanted, but w e  did f ina l ly  
find something, Then the t w  of us e n t  out on the road along the coast 
to the l i r t l e  vi l lage of Dubrovnik onto the rocks *re m could peel off 
our outer clothes, having our bathing suits under them, and swim amnsgt 
the rocks there. The peasants who cam by i n  peasant  cost^ were not 
quite so d e s t  as w wrc. They just  slipped behind a rock somewhere 
and then muld dive into the water. There were two l i t t l e  g i r l s  who were 
enamored of these strange k r i c a n  g i r l s  and came up wanting to learn 
Eslglish wrds  fran us. They learned the wrd "dive" and every t h  they 
said it, e had to dive. That was the Q l i s h  lesson that  w gave t o  
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them. This was a perfectly beautiful spot with a lovely rocky coast. 
Many, m y  years l a t e r  Garreta and Mary Kate went back t o  Dubrovnik and 
it was full  of German touris ts .  

Q. And condominiums? 

A. Probably. (laughs) But w saw it a t  a very k a u t i f u l  time, indeed. 
banwhile aur b a t  was a b u t  t o  go on, and w muld have gone as  a rwtter 
of fac t  a day or  tm before. But the wn frun Montenegro had said, h e n  
w e  said that w wished w could stay over, "Qll, why don't you? With 
your Amrican visas you muld  have no trouble a t  a l l .  The only thing 
that they could do i f  yau overstayed y m  time muld be to  send you t o  
your Amxican Consul at Relgrade. And you might: as ell go there anyhow." 
So, w did stay and let the b a t  go on. It eventually wuld  go up the 
coast of I t a l y  back to  Trieste. 

We took the t r a in  to  Sarajevo, the place &ere the m r  began. It was a 
narrow gauge road . . . the sears =re of the sor t ,  on one side a t  least: 
of the car, that  you could have pulled out and mde a sleeping berth of. 
But the cushions had a l l  been taken out of them during the war so it 
wasn't very c d o r t a b l e .  The people in the car e r e  mst hospitable and 
t r ied  their best t o  ta lk  t o  us. My s i s t e r  spoke German f a i r l y  w e l l ,  k t  
they didn't  want t o  speak German. 'key could a l l  speak German . . . 
a f t e r  all mch of it had k e n  Austrian terr i tory.  They didn't  want t o  
speak German, they didn't  like the Germans. h t  UE did manage some sort: 
of conversation. They were very interested in  having an American cigarette 
and =re of fended that FR did not mke their cigarettes. (laughter) 

The train stopped--as they used t o  somtinoes i n  Amrica--for lunch a t  a 
stat ion,  Many of the people e r e  i n  native coshm-e, k w n t  on to  
Sarajevo, found rooms at: a hotel . . . Sarajevo was a mst picturesque 
town said to  have m r e  msques than Constantinople, vhich mus t  l~ a 
slight emggeration. But it had been a t  one time Turkish. Many of the 
people =re Muslim and you saw mnen on the s t ree ts  in the long, black 
clothes, k i l e  they didn't  actually cover their faces, they m l d  pull 
their shawls together over the i r  noses as they passed you by. a i c h  ms 
all very different fo r  us. The s t ree ts  =re l ike  a bazaar with l i t t l e  
shops *ere there was the brass or  pottery or the embroidery o r  what not. 
So w found it a l l  very fascinating. 

When w l e f t  t o  get the t r a in  on to  Belgrade, fox s m ~  reason there was 
perhaps a change i n  schedule. FJe had t o  hurry for the train, and the 
laundry that w had had done, w had to  go and fetch off the l ine  vhich 
was khind  a msque sonwhere. (laughs) It was not quite dry yet . . . 
in  order to  catch the train.  

On the t r a in  to  Belgrade e ~lletl a young man mch interested in  exiercising 
h is  b i t  of English, who was k i n g  rnet by his parents and they urged us 
very much to go on with them t o  the Iron Gates of the Danube, k didn't 
feel  that m could do tha t ,  lxlt e did spend a l i t t l e  time in  Belgrade. 
Then m =re going to  take a t r a in  to  Budapest. had no . . . oh, yes, 
w w n t  to  the h r i c a n  Consul and asked i f  w could through him get: 
visas to  go through Hungary and Austria. But, he couldn't do that for  
us, because U .S .  had at  that t b  no diplowt ic  relations, but he in t imted  
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that  a l i t t l e  mney used along the m y  might: get us there. I& didn't 
know how t o  b r i k  people kt anyhow w started out hopefully. 

k bought wr t ickets  to  Budapst--so w e  thought, kt t o  our surprise 
before E got on the train they insisted that  w be taken into the s tat ion 
and searched by a mman for  mney . . . our hair taken down--* both had 
very long hair m d  around our heads in braids--our ha i r  taken down to  
see i f  E could have mney concealed there. I thought that very odd 
indeed, kt w w n t  on. k e n  the conductor caw  to get our t ickets ,  he 
in£omed us that Lhey =re not for  Budapest but they =re mde out fo r  
Bucharest. (lau&s) Howver, w contimed on the train. The train 
stopped in a cornfield, actually k r i c a n  Indian corn m i c h  surprised u s ,  
and the people on the t r a in  =re Laken off the t ra in ,  us included, and 
held for  athi le .  Everybody's passport w s  taken up fo r  a b i t  and examined. 
It m s n ' t  un t i l  then that  m learned that  th i s  was a convoy of people who 
had spent the war in Serbia and e r e  just  going back home somehow t o  
Hungary. And w had been mixed up in this convoy of people. 

Q. Oh, my mrd.  mat an experience. *en they =re e d n i n g  you for  
mney, you Ere carrying mney. &s it Amrican mney or  did you trade 
i t  in for  whatever country's you =re in? 

A. Both. 

Q. But they didn't  take that? 

A. No. I don't h o w  what they wanted. 

Q. That is  very strange. And this was in 1920? 

A. Yes. The next place the t r a in  stopped was a t  Suboticia. There E 
got: off along with the convoy and everybody's papers e r e  looked a t  
again, and a l l  the rest of them w r e  waved on to the train t o  go on to 
Budapest. Everybdy e x e p t  us. bk =re kept waiting in the stat ion,  and 
they searched our handbags, no, our bagage, and then e =re asked a h r  
a l l  those letters rn =re carrying. The young Standard O i l  man in Ihbrovnik 
had given us letters to  mil outside the country to  his fiance in  America, 
so he said. & had taken C h a n  along with a l o t  of unanswred mail of 
mine I had just  never gotten around t o  ansering. And the off icer  at the 
desk had a l l  these l e t t e r s  spread out &fore him and was saying, "Alles 
franzijsich, alles f randsich .  " Fk311, they R r e n ' t  a t  a l l .  They were 
Q l i s h .  But they took out the Standard O i l  man's letters and kept them. 
But the rest of them were given back t o  us. Maybe the Standard O i l  man 
was trying to get out something, I don't h o w .  (laughter) 

Tnen , w said, "bll , how abut  our train? " The t r a in  had gone on. 
k11, m muld have t o  spend the night in Subt ic ia .  The l i t t l e  s tat ion 
was oh, a mile o r  mre outside the town of Sub t ic ia .  W l l ,  by this tim 
fiWT) nice young off icers ,  gendarmes so r t  of people , . , I don't how dut 
their rank ms--polic-n, I suppose . . . took us into the s ta t ion  
restaurant and s a t  us down and suggested e might get something t o  eat 
there, and w did. And then they helped us buy t ickets  for  a kind of 
s treetcar  into Suboticia. The t ickets  wre l i t t le  home-made pasteboard 
things . . . che country was devastated . . . seats taken out of a l l  the 
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railroad cars, and so on. And they w n t  along with us  and got us  s e t  up 
in  a hotel i n  Sub t i c i a  . . . got us checked into a hotel ,  took our bags 
up to  uur room, indicated that w should wash up and come down t o  the 
police station. Evidently w looked pretty forlorn by that t k ,  b y  
indicated that there a s  a washbowl, and that w should m e t  than at the 
police s tat ion to  be checked in. Lk mnt: dutiful ly to the police s tat ion 
and p a p r s  e r e  all  looked atl again, and then w wre told that  there 
muld be a t ra in  the next mrning, early the next mrning. So, that was 
supposedly the end of our contact with the t m  policemen. Rut they =re 
waiting for us outside  he office (laughter) and, "Would the d m  help 
them a l i t t l e  with their English?" k11, "Yes, ws wuld." So they took 
us t o  a l i t t l e  pat isserie  and ordered s m  coffee for  us. There another 
one of the policemen mt  us. O£ course th i s  had a l l  been arranged by 
than ahead of t h  . 
Q. I ' m  sure. 

A .  k conjugated the verbs for  them, and 'Wouldn't m l ike  Lo see the 
cinema?" G J e l l ,  " A l l  r ight.  Lk muld see the cinema." And the m v i e  was 
an American mvie with subti t les  in Hungarian. It was "Pearl %it@ and 
the Iron Claw." 

Q. (laughter) True Americana. 

A.  (laughter) Oh, yes, So, ne saw the mvie, and by t h i s  t ime  it m s  
st i l l  nice evening l ight  so after the mvie ve pronmaded with the policemtn 
on the plaza along the banks of the river. &ere everybody else m s  
p r m a d i n g  and looking at  these mn with b r i c a n  girls, which they were 
very conscious of. (laughs) Then they said that w mst have something 
t o  eat. Then they took us t o  a l i t t l e  courtyard and ordered stu£fed 
peppers and they *re the mst delicious Hungarian peppers tha t  you can 
imagine. 

Q. Oh, I'm sure. 

A. & mi ted  for  the food to  be served, and perhaps there =re four 
other tables there. A t  one of them m s  a group of Army off icers ,  and 
there was a real Gypsy orchestra playing, perhaps four people, real  
Gypsies. The leader of the l i t t l e  orchestra muld keep his eye on the 
h y  officers. b e  of them wuld  look at him, nod his head toward him, 
and he muld be right over there, and m l d  be offered a s i p  of wine. 
Then he wu ld  go back and play vigorously. It was a delightful evening. 

bk finally f m d  out what these people real ly wanted . . . or think w 
did. bk have never been real ly sure. They had a friend vho had gone to 
America, and they wanted to  write to  him. &ll, they wanted us t o  write 
the letter i n  -1ish. To th i s  day w don't h o w  whether or  not (laughs) 
w wrote what they asked. But what w wrote was, "kar Tightrope Walker." 
(laughter) This m s  in  a mixture of German, French, and Serbian. 

Q. mere was the tightrope walker? 
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Q. But in  the s ta tes ,  dxxe  did you send it? 

A. I don't remnkr. 

Q. That's mnderful . , . mayk he was with Ringling Brothers, Barnurn 
and Bailey. 

A. I don't know. They wre lm&i.ng amongst themselves. Maybe i t  was a 
n i c k n m ,  and tnaybe it wasn't tightrope walker a t  a l l  . . . I don't 
know. But by gestures and what VE could get of the language that is what 
w put dom for  than, Tnen they very respectfully took us back to  the 
hotel and indicated that muld be called in t i m e ,  as w E r e ,  very 
early in the morning. They said there wuld  be a fiacre waiting for  us 
outside the hotel to  drive us back t o  the railroad stat ion,  and = got on 
and e n t  KO Budapest. 

Q. Oh, *at an experience. 

A. A t  Budapest IE took a fiacre . , . 
Q. Is that  a cab or  something? 

A.  Yes, a horse-dram cab. A t  the hotel there w s  no roan . . . w writ 
to  what e thought was the k s t  hotel. bk decided th i s  would b a good 
idea considering the state these people =re i n  . . . they had had a hard 
t k  getting food. But there was no roan a t  the best hotel,  so the 
driver took us to  the next best and there w s  none there. I& then wnt 
on t o  several hotels,  and f ina l ly  w e  found one which was certainly not 
very good, but w =re assured that tlhere =re some clean beds there. 
W e l l ,  I guess the sheets =re clean because they mre st i l l  damp. 
(laughter) Then the next: day w =re able t o  see Buda . . . the t o m  
across the r iver ,  and then we got the boat to  Vienna, 

The b a t  . . . m had berths on the b a t  . . . no, wait a minute, IE did 
not. It was t o  be an a l l  day t r ip .  Gll, they went for a ways and they 
t ied up . . . they just  stopped. my, w didn't  know. Rut  w spent the 
night on the boat, and a f t e r  s m  supper on the b a t  rn spent time either 
s i t t i ng  araund the edge of the din ing salon, leaning against each other 
and txying to  sleep, o r  going up and walking the deck for a while and 
then caning back t o  &ere it ws mrm. It was kind of cool on the river. 
bk didn't  have very mch sleep any way. There m had an interesting 
conversation with a wanan h o  at: the beginning of the war had been visi t ing 
in  Budapest, and had never been able to  get back t o  her family in Vienna 
until then. She ms on her wy back. 

There was a good deal of conversation about the Russians coming in , , . 
the Bela Kun Russian incident in Budapest. They wnt  through several 
regirnes. Eventually R did get t o  Vienna and there w could get room i n  
a good hotel. But mals =re very scarce indeed, And w decided that  
the waiters =re people who had dinner clothes that they could use. 

Q. Instead of experience? 
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A. Yes, they had never been m i t e r s  before. &It they viere of a class 
that  possessed these clothes. I think m ordered bread o r  asked for  
bread, and w found that was real ly very hard to  get. &It the next day 
m =re each brought a s l i ce  of white bread . . . s m t h i n g  very special. 
k realized it want a t i p  ms very much i n  order. He  probably had 
di f f icul ty  in getting the bread, Still, the Viennese were delightful. 
A t  sane l i t t le  outdoor restaurant there  as st i l l  music, there ms st i l l  
gaiety. 

Q. How long =re you gone a l l  together? 

A. This was so long ago . . . mybe w spent t w  weeks on the Yugoslavia 
part  of tha t  t r i p  and then back t o  Paris. Tne interesting thing to me is 
that you have these things and they are so important. k talked about it 
so rmch for a long time afterwards, and then you get: interested in other 
things and you don't: ta lk  a b u t  them. And it wasn't un t i l  during the 
Second b r l d  Wr  . . . I think it might have been even a£ter--&en my 
older son and my sister w r e  on the train from FJakegan going down to  
Urbana tha t  my sister happened to  mntion something abut Yugoslavia. 
And he said, "Wll,  when =re you ever i n  Yugoslavia?'' And she told him 
abu t  it. 

Q. He had never heard it? 

A. No. Yau just forget that  you =re ever there. 

Q. That sounds, i n  spots, l ike  a real  hairy experience. Mre  you ever 
real ly scared when they were searching yau and such? 

A. No. 

Q. No? 

A. They =re respec tk l  enough. 

Q. k t  stopping in  the middle of a cornfield and being told to  get: out? 

A. (laughs) k wre very puzzled. 

Q. Yes, I would think so. You mntioned a f t e r  the Second Mr ld  &r. FJas 
ei ther  of your sons i n  service? 

A, bum w s  a Marine p i lo t  and was stationed i n  California and about 
ready t o  take off for  Japan when--tharik the Lord--the bomb was used. 
George was in the Army Air Corps and was in Texas . . . &lahoma for  basic 
training. heard from him, a letter written on the train, that he f e l t  
miserable and thought he mst: lx getting the f lu and they were on thei r  
way t o  Denver or  whatever the air base i s  near Denver. N e x t  w e  heard 
fran him he had the masles. (laughs) k s  in  the hospital there and 
then he m s  a b u t  t o  get aut of the hospital when he came dom with 
scarlet  fever. And then he m s  about t o  be released again *en the 
doctor said the scarlet  fever had mde a heart involvemnt and he wid 
have t o  stay a ~ i l e  longer, Eventually he did get home on sick leave 
and back again and then was soon discharged. Apparently the heart hrsiness 
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didn't ever bother him dterwards . In fac t  the f i r s t  leave he got, he 
mt skiing. (laughter) 

Q. No, that doesn't sound too serious. h e  other question about your 
Yugoslavian experience, Yau say you're not too good a t  describing clothes, 
ht can you tell me *at you and your s i s t e r  ended up with fo r  bathing 
sui ts?  

A. I don't remember. %at =re bathing su i t s  by that time? I can 
remember bathing suits before that  that had long skirts. 

Q. I jus t  wndered if maybe over there the styles =re enough different 
that  there was a completely different idea about bathing suits. 

A. I rea l ly  don't rememkr F.Jhat they =re l ike. I know they =re not 
those long dress things that w used t o  mar when I went up to  the lake 
in Michigan. The next door neighbrs i n  Urbana =re practically a second 
f d l y  for  me, and they mt every year t o  a cottage on a l i t t l e  lake in  
the center of Michigan. . . not a wll knom lake. It was named Crystal 
Lake and there is  a Crystal Lake that is  quite popular, but this was a 
smaller place and had a l i t t le  village named Crystal. I used t o  spend a 
great deal of t b  with friends up there. There =re faur children i n  
that family that wre near my age, and I probably spent as  much time with 
than as I did at h a .  I can rmanber snapshots of our bathing sui ts  
then. . . the f i r s t  were dresses. You muld  feel you =re overdressed on 
the street today with m e  of than on. (pause) I do rernemker sotnething 
about the bat?i-ting suits w m r e  in Yugoslavia. They w u l d  have made an 
American m ' s  su i t  look very conservative indeed. 

b d  of Side Wo, Tape Four 

Q. Now yau were te l l ing  rn about your friends. 

A. They owned th i s  cottage for  years and they used to keep some of the 
old bathing sui ts  i n  a closet under the s t a i r s ,  and s o m  qualified as 
antiques--there =re big changes over the years. In l a t e r  years they 
didn' t  get up to  Michigan so mch Eut they s t i l l  owned the cottage and 
they rented it t o  someone, and those people threw away a l l  the old bathing 
sui ts .  Fhich they were very unhappy t o  lose. 

Q. Certainly. Tnat is  too bad. 

A. Crystal was a de l i gh th l  place t o  be for  TIE. Ir: was a small place. 
There =re not m y  cottages and there was a neighbor i n  Urbana who had a 
cottage nearby, too, so they =re neighbors both places. And I sometimes 
think when I go into an Eisner grocery store how amzed these young 
clerks muld  be t o  know that I once square danced with Mr. Eisner &o 
star ted the Eisner stores,  up in Crystal, Michigan. I don't man he 
started the stores there Eut he was visiting the friends, the Urbana 
neighbors who had another cottage there. This was real ly real  "barn 
dances." Over the livery stable a t  Crystal there ms a dance hall, and 
on Saturday ni&ts the yuung blades frun the country round abaut m l d  
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drive in in their m-seater  buggies, often with nice red wheels, with 
their best girls. They wuld put up their horses at  the livery stable 
and then go to the square dance up above it. Lk muld go d m  t o  the 
square dance where they had a fiddler--actually s o m e t b s  with a s t r a w  
sticking out of his shoe--and I can r m k r  one time &en M r .  Eisner 
was visiting his friends. M r .  Eisner was an old gentleman by that t b .  
He was having a very good time, as a l l  of us did a t  these square dances. 
M r .  Eisner had come from Budapest, I believe. He was Hungarian. He lived 
in Champaign and I never hew his wife d ~ o  had died before that, I guess, 
kt my rmther was a friend of hers, 

Q. So, the Eisner stores really started in  aampaign? 

A. They had a grocery store i n  mmpaign long ago and the boys, I guess, 
expanded it. They put one in  Urbana then, and they have constantly 
expanded. bhether or not it s t i l l  belongs to an Eisner or not, I don't 
know. h e  of Ek. Eisner's sons m s  an exel len t  pianist, very rmch in 
derrrand as accanpanist: for top-notch soloists. 

Q. You mt ioned Ehe family next door. You have kept in touch? lb they 
s t i l l  live in  the Urbana area? 

A. Very much, indeed. There was George d ~ o  was a b u t  my age, and I 
remember the day that: George and I started to  school together, I rememkr 
that Minnie about d~om I told you before, backed TIE up to the ironing 
b a r d  to press out my hair ribbons, that didn't look quite right to her, 
a t  the end of my ha long braids before TE started off t:o school. And I 
remember sit t ing with George that f i r s t  day . . . it seam to rn w had 
double seats in those days. 

Q. 7 % ~  students a t  one desk? 

A. A t  least I remember sitting with George a t  one of those seats. Both 
of us were sort of looking t o  each other for c d o r t .  Then I remember, 
also, George being such a *iz a t  ari thmtic,  and it was always such a 
puzzle to  me . . . a r i t b t i c  was. And the f i r s t  day in school you'd get 
your new a r i t h t i c  book, and I would go over to the Burts next door and 
there muld be George sit t ing in  the corner of the kitchen mrking a11 
the problems in the a z i t h t i c  book--way ahead of time. (laughs) 

George and his younger brother Fred and I had a treehouse in the cherry 
tree in their backyard. k r  backyards came together, George was kind of 
tlhe boss of that project: and he muld send Fred and E barefooted domtown 
to  buy so many eight-penny nails for the tree house. Then the oldest 
one--about two years older than I--she and I have been life-long friends. 
'Ihe youngest one was quite a bit  younger so in  those days she seemed very 
much younger. Of course, after a h i l e  everybody got to be the s m  age, 
but she was kind of l e f t  out in those days because she was younger. She 
s t i l l  lives in Qlampaip. Last year I drove up t o  have lunch with her 
and the older one, Josephine, who lived in Indiana had driven over with 
her daughter. My daughter drove IW up, and te had a delightful lunch 
together. The next mnth Josephine died. I was so happy to have had 
that day w i t h  her. 
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Q. Oh, vieren' t you lucky to have that day? 

A. Yes, she was like a sister. I am so glad w got together tlhat day. 

Q. Tnat i s  a good story . . . tha t  you got t o  see her. From things you 
have said about your childhood, you said you didn't  real ly l ike  dolls too 
mch . . . you sememkred the doll  you gave your grandfather and the doll  
you carried when you were going to  Elorida, but: were ym what r + ~  wid 
ca l l  a "tomboy?" 

A. Perhaps so, because in those early days I played with George i n  the 
tree house. I can rem~mber s i t t i ng  i n  tlhe crotch of the big apple tree 
in our yard--which I now realize probably wasn't very f a r  off the ground 
(laughter) ht: it s e e d  t o  me a big t ree  i n  those days--and talking 
a b u t  our Indian ponies down below. &11, there w r e n ' t  any Indian 
ponies but I can see them just as plainly as though there were, I think 
in those early days I played mre with George and Fred than with Josephine, 
unti l  w a l l  got t o  be the sane age, 

Q. (3-1 a previous tape some information m s  los t .  Mrs. Yntana, muld you 
tell rrre again about celebrating holidays a t  your g r a n b t h e r ' s  hause. 

A. It wasn't so mch holidays though I do remember Qzristmases there 
with a big & i s m s  t ree  and many of the twenty-one cousins who lived 
nearby caning in  for  Christmas. &It I r m b e r  mre particularly W a y  
afternoons. Somone of each of the families of Grandma's sons and daughters 
wuld  get t o  Grandma's house on Sunday afternoon, a l m s t  every Sunday. I 
don't mean w a l l  got there at once, &It: there was a representative of 
almst every family there on Sunday. 

After a tihile the sacred parlor got turned over t o  the grandchildren, and 
there e had the old phonograph with the l%sterls Voice" horn on it and 
a player piano. 'ken across the ha l l  i n   he s i t t i ng  room the old folks 
muld gather with Grandm around a coal f i r e  in the fireplace i n  t:he 
winter time. And as Grandma got older, she wanted mre heat and that 
room got hotter and hotter--so the grandchildren preferred the room on 
the other side. Ru t  I can remrakr many times sitting on some grownup's 
lap i n  that room as they a l l  talked a b u t  the things that they remabered. 
And I wish now I had written dawn the things they did talk almutl. 

There was one story about rhe "bound" boy. It seem that  some tire my 
grandfather had brmght haw a by--I'm guessing a t  the age, maybe seven 
or eight--whose father had bound him over to him. The boy's mther  had 
died, and the father wnted to  be free t o  go aut wst and make h i s  fortune. 
So th i s  boy ms bound over with an agreemnt . . . whether it was written 
o r  just  a handshake, I don' t know . . .that he wuld help with the mrk ,  
and when he was twmty-one years old he muld be given twenty acres of 
land, a horse, and a bridle. And Grandm used t o  say that that m s  when 
they =re st i l l  living i n  a cabin which was what is now near the comer 
of k u n t  Hope Cemetery and Florida Avenue i n  Urbana. And that the cracks 
in the floor of the cabin were SO big that she--no doubt exaggerating--was 
afraid she might lose the young 'uns dawn the cracks. 
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The bound boy was not a great deal of help e x e p t  that he could entertain 
the children. Ik  muld build log houses for  than out of corncobs. @ l l ,  
t h i s  was talked about because at Grandm's eightieth birthday, Bruce came 
to  see Granh. k t  happened to  him a f t e r  he l e f t  with his horse and 
bridle,  I don't know, except that he eventually got into trouble and was 
for a while in the penitentiary where he learned t o  be a baker. Afterwards 
he plied the baker I s  trade in micago and, howver, Granchna always had a 
mther ly  feeling for  him and must have kept in touch somehow. On the 
eightieth birthday--which wis the only time I ever saw him--he came down 
from Qlicago with a birthday cake beautifully decorated. I noticed in 
one of these books a b u t  Champaign County . . . I'll have t o  find it for  
you later . . . that there was a t b  when there was somebody responsible 
for orphans. And that orphans e r e  farmed out t o  the l o w s t  bidder. You 
better look that  up. 

Q. CXcay. I w i l l .  

A.  It 's in th i s  book sameplace, this League of b n ' s  Voters b o k  about 
Champaign County. bhich sounds pretty horrible. 1 was t e l l ing  s m  
sociologist about the bund b y ,  and she said, "Oh, yes, 1 ike the New 
York orphans." ~ i c h  I had never heard of.  

Q. You  an when they =re shipped t o  the Midwest? 

A. Yes, t b y  =re shipped to  the Midest. 

Q. Trainloads of them, 

A,  And I suppose they took their chances on what kind of a family they 
landed with. I can remember a cousin of my father telling II-E that her 
parents had had mre than one of these orphans who =re raised with the 
family. Che of than had been an interesting, imaginative b y  who used t o  
entlertain the children of the family, when  he gromups of the family 
Ere away, with fantast ic  s tories  about: ghosts un t i l  they =re a l m s t  
afraid to go to  bed. k i c h  makes E think of . . . "the goblins w i l l  get 
yau i f  yaz don't n t c h  out, " Riley's rhym, and also made m realize that 
probably Riley's ' l i t t l e  Orphan Annie Cam t o  Our I b u e  t o  Stay" w s  
based on just such a person. 

Q. very likely. 

A. "Clear the cups and saucers up and brush the c m b s  away." She said 
that  one of the g i r l s ,  a f t e r  she had grown up to  whatever age she was no 
longer, I suppose, bound for ,  had becane ill and died and that she ms 
buried in the family plot along with other family m b e r s .  One hears a 
l o t  now about abse of children, Eut that seems l i k e  a t e r r ib le  thing. 
Think of these youngsters mybe ten years old being sent off to a strange 
land and strange people. 

Q. But maybe it was better than growing up on the streets of New York 
with no supervision, But the bund boy stayed then un t i l  he was t m t y  
ox twenty-one. Did he have a place i n  the barn t o  stay? 
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A. I think he stayed with the family. 

Q. Oh, he stayed wirh tlhe family. And tshe family was responsible for 
feeding and clothing him, kt he got no pay until he had served his time. 

A. He  probably had t o  mrk pretty hard, too, because my father said his 
father was quite a task-master. Probably he seemed like a mrse task-mster 
to  the youngster. But he spoke of the t im that he had brought a load of 
f l a x  seed down from Fisher, I l l inois,  which i s  twn ty  miles and the roads 
wre  bad and muddy. Ik  wuld have to  get out and help turn the wheels 
and get the wagon started again some times, and he ms mrn out a t  the 
end of that twnty miles. H e  did think that: his father might go out and 
take care of the horses or have one of the other boys do it, but no, you 
took care of your horses f i r s t ,  and then you could drop. Those people 
all  mrked. His father had probably mrked awfully hard, too. J3is 
father broke prairie so i l ,  and while he probably asked a great: deal of 
his children, he lanew h a t  it was himself to mrk. 

Q. Yes. 

A. h e  of them--getting back to Grandm's house again--the youngest one 
of the family, my father's youngest brother, and this must have been 
after the family had mved back to town, rebelled. He m s t  have been a t  
least a teen ager, perhaps grom up. He care in frmmilking one night 
and I believe the cow had kicked over the Ixlcket. FEe threw the rest of 
the milk dom on the porch and said, "I '11 never milk another cow. " And 
his father put h i m  out i n  Kansas on land that he owned there, looking 
after catt le on the range. He did not have to  milk. And he lived there 
alone, got terribly lonesome with only his cat for campany. Occasionally 
when he w ~ t  into town or the village and c a m  back at  night with a buggy 
or on horseback, the cat wuld met him a t  the l i t t l e  stream he had to 
ford--on the far side of the stream. And he was always glad to see the 
cat. 

Q. The cat was probably l o n e s ~ ,  too. 

A. Cat was lonesame, too, and cam to met him. But one t h  the circus 
cam through the c m t r y ,  and Uncle Will sent mrd to his father to  t e l l  
one of the other boys t o  come out and look after these catt le because he 
had taken his best team of horses and joined the circus as a hostler. He 
stayed with the circus for tm years, and he loved it and he knew everybdy 
in the circus . . , a l l  the performers, the freaks, and even the pickpockets, 
who traveled as a regular part of the crew. 

men iny mother and father were married, they vent to St. Louis on their 
honeymaon. The circus was playing there and hc le  W i l l  mt them at the 
train w i t h  t w  tickets for the circus. (laughter) Of course, Uncle h i l l  
was an uncle that w enjoyed. &en the circus cane to  town, he took us. 
He muld hitch up the pony cart: and take us out to see this or that. 
Uncle Will later w n t  to  KO& in a bank in  New York, and it was he who 
married my Aunt Myra &en I was six months old. 

Q. I think that i s  interesting that he cam in and threw the milk, That 
was the las t  of the milking for  him. He was lucky that h is  father had 
s m  place t o  put him to make him happy. 
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You and Mr. Yntema had three children, t m  boys and a g i r l .  How did your 
family l i f e  with your own children d i f fer  from your fani ly l i f e  with your 
s i s t e r  and parents? Did you do more together o r  less? 

A, 1 have t o  stop and think a b u t  that.  I hadn't thought that there was 
any particular difference. No, bk did a great deal together. There ws 
no TV for  people t o  look a t .  (laughter) And w e  did wrk around the 
house and yard together. 

Q. And you took the t r ips  up north? 

A. bk took the t r ips  up to Holland, Michigan, where m generally had 
rented a cottage out on the shore not very far from bbther Yntema's 
house. It was close enough that Mother Yntema could come out with jars  
and jars of applesauce fo r  us. I think m lived on applesauce and milk 
pretty much. (laughter) One place, lovely little lake just  off Lake 
Michigan--as m y  of the l i t t le  streams that corrre in to  Zake Michigan 
widen aut into l i t t le  lakes just  before they pour into M e  Michigan 
itself-and on this l i t t le  lake there was a l i t t l e  grocery store for  the 
benefit of sumrner people. &en e muld take the canoe and go down to 
the grocery store,  on arriving there the s tore keeper wuld  say, '&re 
caw  the Yntemas. Lk better get in m r e  milk." (laughs) Lk muld carry 
it back t o  have with Mother Yntem's applesauce, 

Q. That sounds wnderful. Your three children a l l  mnt  away t o  school? 

A. Yes. They a l l  e n t  t o  S w a r t b r e ,  

Q. We i s  out i n  Cambridge, teaching a t  Harvard. Xary Kate is here. 
k e r e  is your other son? 

A. George is a t  Rolton, Connecticut, which is almost a suburb of Hartford. 

Q. How many grandchildren do you have? 

A. 7310 grandchildren . . . tw granddaughters. 

Q, I wuld  l ike  t o  f ind out about yaur l i f e  in kukegan a f t e r  your 
husband retired. 

A.  k11, w bought the acreage maybe five years before he re t i red ,  but 
didn't  get araund t o  h i l d i n g  on it until a couple of years k f o r e  he 
re t i red ,  Mter that e =re in the house for  a year and a half before he 
ret ired and w n t  t o  Stanford Research Ins t i tu te  a t  Menlo Park, California 
for a couple of years. After Menlo Park w wmt t o  Madison, FJisconsin, 
he re  he was doing research for  the Bjorksten Chanical Company. Then he 
really retired and e e n t  back LO the place w had hilt which w called 
and s t i l l  call "Pohickory." 

Q. b a t  is the n~aning of that? 

A That is  the Indian name from &ich IE get: the name hickory. Fk3 =re 
honoring both the Indians who lived araund there un t i l  about the 1830s, 
h e n  they =re sent off =st some place, and the hickory trees on the 
place. 
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Q. M r .  Yntema just kept b s y ,  then, on the grounds, and you did, too, 
a f t e r  that? 

A, Yes. bk wre particularly intxrested in setting aut a l i t t le  orchard 
because m remmbered with pleasure the apple t rees of the h a  orchard 
a t  Holland, Michigan. Lk wanted the kind of apples w ranembered instead 
of the ones yau can buy in the store. So LGE did quite a l o t  of hunting 
a t  that  time to  find a place to  k y  the old-fashioned apple trees. Now 
it has kcme the thing t o  do and mst nursery catalogs feature a f e w  of 
h a t  they c a l l  antique o r  old-fashioned apples. Rut re didn't find what 
LE wanted for  tw or  three years. In fac t  I only found the l a s t  one year 
before last. I found here I could get the l a s t  kind that my husband 
wanted. 

Q. J k w  are they different? In t a s te  or appearance? 

A, kll, a l l  variet ies  of apples are  different.  

Q. But h a t  are they like . . . a delicious, o r  a jonathon? 

A. W e l l ,  one is an early green apple which mikes e x e l l e n t  f i r s t  applesauce 
in the swmr, when a nice cold lmwl of fresh applesauce is particularly 
enticing on a hot surmner day. One corns a l i t t le  b i t  later and is particularly 
good, too, for  applesauce. The kind of applesauce you buy in a can is 
very ordinary. A couple of others came along a l i t t l e  b i t  l a t e r  in the 
season, and then w have something that  is an especially good eating 
apple t o  carry araund in your pocket. bhat m particularly wanted to  
plant f i r s t  was a Northern Spy. Because as my husband said, 'There ms 
no pie l ike  Spy pie." Did I tell you abut the first apple pie--Spy 
pie--I made? 

A. kll, Northern Spy i s  northern apparently, and I had never known it 
dom in central I l l inois .  But he talked so mch a b u t  this apple. After 
WE wnt t o  Wukegan I saw on the window of a neighborhood grocery store 
written in chalk, ''bk have Northern Spy apples." So I bought sorne and 
made a pie and said to  myself, 'Well, he m n ' t  know the difference," 
He took one bi te  and said, "&ere did you get the Northern Spys?" So, 
they do have a different taste .  They are  particularly good cooked under 
crust. 

Q. You had regular size trees? Or did you have dwarf ones? 

A. A t  f i r s t  w planted standard size trees,  but the l a t e r  ones w got 
were semi-dwarf ones. Before Leonard died e had ordered some dwarfing 
stock so that ie could graft onto it the kind of trees tha t  FR wanted and 
had planted the stock and I guess, shortly before he died, same of the 
trees wre transplanted from the l i t t l e  nursery aut into the orchard. 
Tne last kind that m got . . . as I said there was one kind that  he had 
talked about that  VE had not been able t o  find for  sale. It was a f t e r  
caning down here that I found an orchard i n  Indiana *ich had that tree. 
I wrote t o  than and they grafted s m  onto dwarf stock for TIE which te 
had planted up there th i s  spring. So that finished the kinds that  w 
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were looking for. The Doud Nursery had just one old tree of MLnter R a m b  
that: had been planted by M r .  h d l s  grandfather. 

Q. Then the rest of the acreage ms just: wild? 

A. bk dug a l i t t l e  pond because konard was interesting in  stocking tlhatl 
with bass and bluegills . It was abut a half -acre pond, I guess, And 
the rest was old field that so= poor f a m r  had tried to clear of rocks. 
It .nust have been a lmst  a mrain or glacier that dropped a lo t  of rocks 
there. 

Q. Boulders? 

A .  Four or five feet across. kn~ lmdy  had tired to clear a field and 
push these rocks off to the side. In New Fngland they m l d  have mde a 
good stone fence. Rut that was just left: t o  grow up as it wuld . . . 
exel lent  wild strawberries. There e r e  tm patches of mods: one had 
white oak, red oak, and hickory mixcd; the other was c q l e t e l y  hlhite 
oak. k had a neiabor d ~ o  had given us a hive of bees, 

Q. You could really go in and wrk with them and get the honey? 

A, I did. My husband m s  allergic to k e  stings. 

Q. You m r e  the netting? 

A. The veil. And got stung s o m t b ~ s .  

Q. I am sure you did. 

A.  I took care of the bees. I had tm hives eventually. I am particularly 
fond of bee honey i n  tshe cmb. 

k d  of Side One, Tape Five 

A. On a l i t t l e  acreage just the other side of edswrth--uur place was about 
a mile and a half from the village of bhdsmrth--were very good friends 
and there, too, the rnan had nothing to do with bees ht t:he wt~aan and I 
=re good friends and she had hives. So rn exchanged interests rind wrk 
on the hives, and she had an extractor. And FR tried to do some extracting 
of honey from the combs. 

Q. k r e  you and your l-rusband always interested in leaving things to 
nature and conservation? 

A. k11, konard  was always interested in having a garden. & had a 
garden in  the back yard in 'GJebster Groves, so I leamad a b i t  of gardening 
from him. I guess I have always been interested in nature. father and 
my tmther =re interested in the trees and the yard, My mtherls  father 
was a nurseryman. I never knew him but maybe the genes came down. 
(laughs) I used t o  beg my father to mve out to a farm, kt he, too, 
said he muld never milk another cow. (laughter) 
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Q. I like the story you told m i n  Ehe car about your father planting 
the trees. Will you tell IIE that for  the tape? 

A. Yes. Papa planted a pin oak in 1908 and said it ms mine, and not 
far fran it an Amxican linden which he said t n s  Garrets's. And ve =re 
particularly fond of them when they grew up into beautiful trees. Tne 
oak is now quite large and qui te  handsome. The linden unfortunately, 
shortly af ter  my s i s te r  died, was taken down by a freak wind storm and 
a lms t  destroyed. But once when Papa was old and it was a l i t t l e  hard t o  
f ind presents for hisn that he might l ike,  I thought of having l i t t l e  
metal plaques made with "Pin oak or American linden (as tshe case might 
be) planted by George Busey, l9O8." Then I had r h e m  put on the trees. 
Lha the linden was broken, I retrieved the plaque. I thought it would 
make a nice paper w igh t  for one of the children kcause w a l l  spent a 
good deal of  tin^ in the s m r  a t  my parents' home. And these =re the 
trees they had climbed and liked. Shall I t e l l  you the quotation, if I 
can remenkr it? 

Q. Yes, please. 

A. I want to paste on the back of the plaque somehow the quotation from 
"John Brown's bdy". Ncrw I told you tlhe author and I have forgotten. 

Q. Millay? 

That's not right,  i s  it? 

Q. Stephen Vincent: Benet. 

A. Yes, Benet. It is abut the trees of Richmond, Virginia, 'The trees 
on the streets  are old trees that  remanber your grandfather's natrre." 

Q. I think that is lovely. 

A.  My sister &o ws a p e t  always said that I had no poetical sense, no 
sense of r h p .  That I wuld just as soon as not say, 'Ding dong de l l ,  
pussy i s  in the cistern." (laughter) 

Q. Oh, that i s  not too kind. 

A, No, but qui te  true. 

Q. Fhen did your husband ret ire? How many years did you live there 
before he passed away? 

A. & had lived there a year and a half when w w n t  out t o  California. 

Q. But when you came back to b d s m r t h ,  how long were  you there together? 

A. k came back in a b u t  1960 and he died in 1976. 

Q. So you had many years together there. 
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Q. After your husband died, you stayed there for  several years? 

A. Until 1982. 

Q. Did you have help t o  c a w  i n  and take care of a l l  this? 

A. I had an e x e l l e n t  mmm t o  cone i n  t o  clean who had first: COKE when 
konard was ill. He was ill fran 1972 t o  1976 . . . m o r e  or l e s s  housebound. 
A t  that tk I got in touch with an e x e l l e n t  g i r l  to  conre and clean and 
m mre very fond of her. And she continued t o  do so--tm m~mings a 
e e k  . 
Q. I was asking mre about the outside. Didn't: you have to  have someone 
help? 

A. There =re boys i n  the neighborhood whom I hired t o  m w  the part  that 
w kept m w d  around the house, and a couple of times a year, the orchard. 
The orchard was not producing a d u l l y  wll un t i l  not long k f o r e  Leonard 
died. And w were not having real ly good apples. A yuung man took over 
a c m r c i a l  orchard not f a r  fran u s  a d  I asked him i f  I could hire him 
t o  c m  t o  spray the apples. This unfortunately seems t o  be necessary 
fo r  apple trees, though many of us muld  l ike  t o  have them raised without 
these sprays. He. . . bless his heart . . . after he had sprayed his o m  
large orchard that he was leasing, then heeled h i s  tank around t o  our 
place and sprayed there. So, those last years which fortunately wre 
before Leonard died, FR had perfect apples. 

Q. So he had mre Northern Spys? 

A. But one reason c m r c i a l  orchards don't care t o  p l a n t  Northern Spys 
is  because it takes so long for  them to  bloom in the f i r s t  place. Those 
that w planted, which =re real ly tlhe f i r s t  rrees w planted for  the 
orchard, took twa ty - tm  years1 

Q. You are very patient. 

A .  %re was nothing else you could do a b u t  it. (laughs) Yes, the 
young ram who took care of the orchard was not only very good about L h e  
spraying--of course I paid hitn for the spray but he did the w r k  for  
nothing--kt he also muld c m  with s m  kind of machinery and get s e  
of the rocks out of the way. 

Q. But then h e n  the apples s tar ted producing, you had t o  have help 
picking them? 

A. The help with picking ws the friends frm kukegan and the countryside 
who knew about them, and they muld often pick, too, for  th i s  young man 
t o  sell at  his orchard. But that was just  friendly picking and carrying. 

Q, Lk spoke ea r l i e r  of the man who i s  leasing your house and land now, 
and he is a bird watcher. k r e  you? 
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A. kt particularly. h l y  as mst people are who have a bird feeder, 

Q. But: you didn' t go out looking for different variet ies  l ike  he has 
done. 

A. No. I wuldn' t know them or &ere to look. 

Q. You said you had awakened the other day and realized you had given me 
a wrong name. Did you have something else that you had jotted down? 

A, I have forgotten how the subject of bicycles cam up . . , 
Q. Yes, I said something about the bicycles bu i l t  fo r  t w  . 
A. That reminded I-E that the maternal cousin who lived with us for  s m  
years and tho was l ike  a big brotlwr to  m, that I can just  remmbr his 
having a bicycle with a big front: wheel. That is a very vague m r y .  

Q. J4e could real ly r ide i t ?  

A, Yes. I can just  remember that. I think ws =re talking about . . . 
he was the one who came and mrked in the bank. He was my rmther's 
nephew raised in  Colorado. He l e f t  haw as a young man and w n t  t o  
micago t o  mrk for ,  I believe, the now farmus Continental Bank. Qsn' t 
that in existence then? 

Q. I don't how. 

A. I l l ino i s  Continental Rank. And I heard him say that: he lived a 
couple of blocks o r  so from the bank a t  a boarding house, and writ t o  the 
theatre at  night a few blocks away. Chicago was smaller, although I do 
not know when it was. Later he caw down t o  tmrk in  the Busey Rank and 
lived with us , . . h i s  h t  Kit of &an he was quite fond. Eventually, 
when he died, he was president of the bank. Ihat else can I tell you 
a b u t  Gary? Nothing else occurs t o  I-E just now. But it did make IX 
think about how often Gary and my father muld ccm h e  and perhaps 
muld ?E in a t-rurry t o  get back t o  the bank in  the afternoon because the 
books didn't quite balance. They might mrk  for  a 10% time finding the 
few cents off of balance, which they did without adding machines. Bankers 
in  those days could run their sharp pencils up a line of figures and add 
them. I muld  never be able to  do that.  Rutl they had practice. 

Q. So the bankers ' hours real ly wren ' t  over a t  tm o 'clock. 

A. Oh, by no means. They had to  balance the books as I m sure you have 
t o  do now, too, lxt you have . . . 
Q. Machines. 

A. Yes, a l l  kinds of machinery t o  do it with. 

Q. Rut  neither of your sons i s  i n  banking? 
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A. No. 

Q. That i s  interesting tha t  banking has k e n  such a par t  of your family 
for  so long. Are there any Buseys s t i l l  connected with tshe bank i n  
U r b a n a ?  

A. No, so f a r  as I know, there is  now no mre Buscy mney in any QIaqaign 
County bank. 

Q. The Buey name certainly was banking in  the early days. 

A. W l l ,  as I told you about the man from Hmr who was telling my 
father  a b u t  how banks =re star ted,  it ms jus t  a part of that  h i l d i n g  
up of a t o m  or ccmmridty. Smebdy happened t o  stlart out doing that  
so r t  of thing. 3ust before the farnous bank closing of Roosevelt's time-- 
I believe I remember this correctly--one of the Urbana banks was closed 
because of an embezzling by authorities. The poor man wnt  to  the penitentiary. 
I a n  sure it m s  not a deliberate tshing, h t  he just got in  a l i t t le  too 
deep in his loans and didn't how how t o  get out again, I suppose, 
Anyway, he certainly was not a p r e d i t a t e d  criminal. That brought on a 
run of the other banks in town. 

I can remember going down and watching the great line of people going up 
t o  the teller's window to  take the i r  mney out of the bank. It is kind 
of nice to  ranember the loyalty of a l o t  of the people in the small tom. 
M r .  Oldham who had the drugstore on the other corner of the block muld 
take in a l i t t le  mney and as soon as he did, he muld  come up t o  the 
bank and hold the mney up where it could k seen and say, "I want to 
deposit mney." He muld then go back and i f  he got any more in, muld 
conre up again t o  deposit mney . 
Q. Trying t o  dissuade the people from withdrawing their funds? 

A. Yes. I am sure there were anxious ca l l s  to  that  I l l inois  Continental 
l3ank in  Chicago depository for  the small bank t o  get m e y  back d m  
there. Eventually it was ea the red  sornehaw. 

Q. You E r e  speaking of the bank the first day before w stsarted taping. 
You were telling m about going to  the bank when yau =re l i t t le  and 
s i t t i ng  on your father 's  desk. 

A. Yes. I wis waiting for  him to  c m  h m ,  

Q. Ebt do you remember what you told E tha t  he did? 

A. That he sharpened pencils by hand. And I haven't seen anybody do 
that  for a long time. I don't think there e r e  any pencil sharpeners, 
and they d e  those nice neat little sl ices on each side of the cedar 
mod pencil, and then wmld put the pencil p o h t  down on the paper and 
sharpened it with their penknives. Bankers always carried penknives. I 
suppose those e r e  pen knives originally for the qu i l l  pens, Long, long 
0 .  Isn ' t  that the reason they are called penknives? 
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Q. The bankers mrked with pencils, kt *en they wre actually posting, 
didn't  they use . . . 
A. Oh, that  m l d  mst: certainly be in ink. 

Q. A pen and ink that they dipped it in?  

A. Yes. 

Q. I wonder if you wu ld  ref lect  jus t  a l i t t le  bit: on your interesting 
l i fe . . . 
A. k i t ,  I did put samething e lse  down here that night: I mke up thinking. 
You had said when I told you about Minnie being such a valuable person, 
did my mother not do any of the cooking? And I said,  ''!Yo, " ht that  
i s n ' t  quite right ei ther .  She was an excellent cook, and often helped 
with cooking or  in  making special dishes, ht with the regular routine 
cooking she was glad enough to  get r i d  of it. I don't man it: was a 
household with many servants. 

Q. Oh, no, I didn't  undersfand it that  way. 

A. I don' t roean she was just  a lady of leisure . . . 
Q. But for  the party cooking, she was very mch into it . . . 
A. Or the thes when, once in  a while, oysters wuld IE available. And 
they wren  't a11 the time. bk -re a long ways, you know, f ran the 
seashore and refrigerated cars and airplanes =re not with us. Rut 
occasionally the htlcher muld get in oysters, and in the evening when we 
had oysters she muld  take care of the superintending of the making of 
the oyster soup. And w e  had the l i t t l e  oyster crackers . . . do you 
r-ber those? But I think she, l i ke  her own mther ,  was happy t o  get 
away from the t b t a k i n g  routine of that  so r t  of thing as  much as  possible. 
Men her o m  mther's family had becaw a m k r  of th i s  camma1 colony-- 
Ceresco--she said that was great: because there the mrk was divided up 
and some days of the wek some wmn did the cooking, and some days 
others did. But yau didn't  every day have t o  do che cooking--you had 
time for  something else. 

Q. That sounds nice. 

A. And I have heard my mother say that  she thoughf che time muld caw 
when you might: be able t o  buy things already cooked. 

Q. Oh. 

A. (laughs) Also, she was very imaginative about the household. Perhaps 
I told you of the division of the kitchen into laundry and kirchen? 

Q. No. 

A. W11, when the house had been bought, the kitchen was a great,  long 
room. Obviously it had been added on to  the original house. A t  the f a r  
end of the kitchen, the opposite end from the dining room, was a chimney 
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where the stove was. So there m s  that long walk from t h  stove and 
through the china cupbard t o  the dining room. Wll ,  she had the stove 
mved up to the middle of the roan h i c h  divided it--you cauld get around 
each end of that: s t o v e - h t  mde a kind of division of the roam &ich 
want a very long, horizontal stove pipe. I think once a year it had to 
be cleaned out and probably was a nuisance, But then back to the kitchen. 
She put in  laundry tubs and i%e wshing mchine , . . none of this business 
of going dom to the basemnt to do the laundry. 

Q. She was very far-sighted. 

A.  Mary Kate and I are amused when w go t o  the Dana House at  the pride 
with daich you are told that Frank Lloyd Wright mde a place t o  have the 
ice put in the icebox from the outside. bk11, she thought: of it long 
before that, and had the icebox mved into the kitchen and a place cut i n  
the w a l l  in back of it kJhere the ice m s  put i n  fran the porch. And you 
didn't have t o  l i f t  it up way hi& the way you have to do at  the Dana 
house. 

Q. W11, it: sounds like your msther was an efficiency expert. 

A. Also, Minnie becatm an ezellent: cook. Shortly after she cam, Mrs. 
Rorer--who m s t  have been the Julia Child of the day--came to tom for 
damnstrations a t  the University of 111imis, and Minnie was sent: to her 
cooking classes, I still have, and I know other people have, Mrs. Rorer's 
cook book. 

Q. So t?at helped Minnie ' s cooking ability considerably. 

A. Minnie learned how t o  do things properly, Also, my mther was very 
interested in  nutrition. Candy was taboo m s t  of the time. Vegetables 
=re very important. She shocked her mre  conservative sisters-in-law by 
sewing raw carrots and cauliflowr, and not cooking the kans to death. 
That m s  scm~what because of her close association with Mrs. TXmlap who 
was very interested i n  nutrition and made many talks around che stare at 
f amrs '  institutes a b u t  nutrition for their children. She thought: they 
should pay as mch attention to that as to nutrition for their animals. 

Q. If candy was taboo, did you get it for special occasions? 

A. Oh, yes, but it certainly a s  not encouraged. Bread ms always whole 
wheat bread and homemule. 

Q. Do you bake bread? 

A. Yes. It i s  one of the few cooking things that I do. Not a l l  the 
trim though. Bread w s  always h-de then. bk couldn't stand baker's 
bread, It i s  only in the last  comparatively f e w  years that ve really 
have had decent baker's bread . . . not until the Pepperidge Farm people 
started it and the people up in  l&sconsin. 
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A.  Brmberry ,  yes. bhich t o  my mind is good bread. I did learn to  
bake pies a f t e r  I was rnarried because my husband was fond of them-- 
part iclar ly apple pie. And I am afraid there E r e  many times men the 
piecrust was a l m s t  inedible. But I finally learned t o  mike piecrust, 
tjnich I am sure is an art  not a science . . . it is the so r t  of thing you 
have to  mtch  done. 

Q. That's right.  

A. Anyhow my mother considered pies and heavy desserts . . , she referred 
t o  them as "pizen things." 

Q, So, did you have f ~ t  or samething l ight  for  dessert? 

A. Fruit ,  custards, and other things, This wasn't a complete taboo, kt . . .  
Q. W l l  , it certainly makes sense. 

A. Hoever , I wu ld  go over t o  the house next: door and eat pie with 
great glee. (laughter) After Minnie left--when m e n t  t o  Europe that 
year, Minnie by that tim m s  only a b u t  tmt ly - s ix  years old. It was 
time for  her t o  know a l i t t le  sanething else,  and since e =re going t o  
be gone for so long, she and a friend went to a household i n  Cincinnati. 
It was no doubt happier for her because there -re a number of servants. 
After the m n d e r k l  Minnie MS no longer: there, there was a succession of 
those A o  *re g o d  and those d-10 e r e  not so good. So there =re m y  
t b s  that Garreta and I had t o  wash the dishes. bk e r e  very happy on 
Thursday night, though, because you could go t o  the country club. (laughs) 
And then we got out of dishes t o  wash. I don't know h y  dishwashing was 
so t e r r ib le  because I could go next door to  the Burrs and help them wash 
dishes . , . and that was h. 

Q. Yes, I knm. I have been in  tha t  same situation. I30 you recal l  a t  
a l l ,  =re there other houses around yau that  had g i r l s  that Minnie could 
see? On her day off? 

A. Yes.  I r m b e r  one particular friend of hers. In the evenings 
thei r ,  I guess you muld call  them boyfriends now, muld c m  and sit  
around the dining room table and play "Flinch. " 

Q. A card g e ?  

A. A card game. It was played as you muld have played, say "500" with 
ordinary playing cards. But the cards looked different ,  consequently 
they =re not taboo t o  my Southern Presbyterian friends t o  &om regular 
card gams =re taboo. Are you a Northern Presbyterian? 

Q. Yes. 

A ,  k11, I think the Northern and Southern churches have f inal ly cane 
together. 
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Q. Yes ,  

A. I think the Southern Presbyterian was a l i ~ t l e  mre conservative. 

Q. Southern k p t i s t s ,  I knw, do not allow card playing. 

A. N o t  even now? But my Southern Presbyterian friends cauld play 
"Flinch. '' 

Q. Ekcause the cards looked different? 

A. Yes, 

Q. &11, did you get to play "Flinch" with them? 

A. Oh, Yes. 

Q. Tnen you didn't just mtch. 

A .  No. I suppose I watched when I was very small.  1 had fun with them 
anyhow, And that mkes me think of another thing about Minnie. Sne 
saved her money and the wages wuld have been very l i t t l e .  O f  course 
money m s  w r t h  m r e  in  chose days. But anyhow Minnie wuld walk to 
Champaign on her day off--the tm miles--in order to  save the five cent 
streetcar fare. And a certain anwlunt of her m e y  was autornatlically put 
in to  a building and loan. And that makcs me thirik very much of 

Antonia. Have you read that? 
F Antonia--the chapter in t:hat on the hired girls  . . . Willa Cat er. 9 

Q. No. 

A. kll, do read it. Read the chapter on the hired girls. Thinking of 
the kitchen, I do think of the telephone. With the telephone service 
being in f l u x  now, it night be a l i t t l e  interesting. For years there 
Ere tw telephone cqan ie s  in  Urbana-aqaign. I& had the Holrre phone 
and the BUIXS had the Bel l  phone. There ws no connection betmen the 
Horn phone and the Bell phone. 'h i f  e wanted to call  smr~body who had 
the Bell phone, w had to  go over t o  the Burts to do so. And i f  somebody 
wanted to call the Burts who had the Hone phone, they called us and = 
ran over and fetched the I3urb. (laughter) 

Q. Oh, maybe that w i l l  make us appreciate what w have now, 

A. Right. 

Q. And &en you put in a long distance telephone call, that w s  kind of 
special. You called the Operator and gave all the informtion, and then 
you hung up and you waited a long t h e  unti l  she called you back. You 
didn't just call up s-body i n  Cambridge and talk t o  them as easily as 
you talk t o  some body in Springfield. 

End of Side k, Tape Five 
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Q. You m t e d  to  tell me something a b u t  your m the r  and manners. 

A. h e  of our neighbrs m s  an old lady--at leas t  she s e e d  old to  ~IE 
in  those days--&o had a s t k  badly. And when she had a bad attack of 
a s t b ,  she was supposed to m k e  s m  kind of a nredicinal cigarette . . . 
it seems to  IIE it was called a "kabob1'--wuld such a thing b possible? 

Q. I have no idea. 

A. Anyhow, she ms self  conscious about it and writ: off by herself &ere 
nobody could see her =king a cigaret te ,  even though it m s  a medicinal 
thing. 

Q. I have never heard of that. That's interesting. 

A. As a m m m  she was not supposed to  be seen smoking a cigarette.  
Then, k e n  you =re about to put on the tape, something was said h i c h  
reminded TIE of my mther and scrmething else . . . 

A .  Oh, yes, f i r s t  n e s .  About names in general. Perhaps I to ld  you 
thar my newly mrried granddaugh~er i s  keeping her o m  nam. 

Q. Yes. 

A.  And I am sure rrry mther wuld approve, because Lucy Stone m s  one of 
the early feminists whun she admired. She was what w w l d  now ca l l  a 
feminist. Mother ws alwtys interested in mmen' s suffrage and belonged 
to the suffrage organizations. Wen tmm E r e  given suffrage, that 
group then reorganized and became the local League of W n  Voters, And 
my mther was eager t o  take me to that f i r s t  meeting of the League of 
kmen Voters. Her  om mther, doubtless, muld  have been a so-called 
feminist, because she felt she had not been treated properly because she 
could not get her d i c a l  degree, She had gone to  mdical  school with 
her brother, done a11 the mrk with him, helped dissect a cadaver, and 
passed the examinations with higher grades than her brother. He  becam a 
doctor and wnt  out to California. But she, as a mmn, could not be 
given a degree. 

Q. Fhat year was this? 

A. Are there any dates on this? 

Q. By the turn of the century that  ms not the case. 

A. &11, my granaather a s  born in 1812, and it w s  his wife, Elmina. 
And so how old she was, or &n she ws born, I don't know. 

Q. So it wu ld  have been before 1850? 

A. Yes, my mther was born in 1855. 
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Q. No, I man when she was going Co school. 

A.  But my m ~ h e r  was the youngest of Elmina 's children, so before that. 

Q. 1835 o r  1840, probably. That was early. But she took a l l  the coursewxk 
and did a l l  the lab mrk, ht couldn't get tha t  piece of paper. You were 
speaking of Lucy Stone and suffrage. 

A. Lucy Stone was one of the early f aninists who advocated womn's 
keeping their om names h e n  they married. 

Q. Oh, l i k e  your granddaughter. 

A. Yes. 

Q. So, your mrher  was active in the League of k n  Voters? 

A. Yes, and &fore that  i n  suffrage, a l l  the sdfrage things. Back 
again to nutrition, I can rememkr her ringing doorbells to  get: petit ions 
signed ro get domestic science put into the schools--the high schools. I 
wasn ' t too happy to have to  take it. (laughter) I 'm sure it didn' t do 
IIE any harm. I learned tlo mke what Jul ia  Child now ca l l s  a roux. 

Q. Oh,  yes. 

A.  And perhaps I mentioned before that  th is  Mrs. k n l a p ,  a great friend 
of hers, was responsible fo r  having HOKE Economics a t  the University of 
I l l inois .  

Q. Yes ,  you did tell me that. I was jus t  going to ask you t o  ref lect  a 
l i t t le  b i t .  Do yau have anything e lse  i n  your notes that yau wanted t o  
tell I-E? 

A. No,  ve have covered a l l  the things I thought of in the night. 

Q. Do you consider any particular time as yuur happiest tim of l i f e ?  

A. No. 

Q. You have just  been happy with a l l  of it, haven't you? I think you 
have had such an interesting l i f e  so far. You arc lucky. Is there 
anything m j o r  that you wu ld  do differently? 

A. Yes. I wuld  have found t k  to study mre of the humanities along 
with the science, i f  there wre enough rime in this mrld. One should 
have tmre than one l i f e .  (laughs) 

Q. k11, you do so mch reading. I am impressed. 

A. I do think of another l i t t l e  era of l i f e .  This Aunt Myra of wham I 
speak and of wham I was fond, when she mrried Uncle W i l l ,  l ived for 
awhile i n  New York City when he was connected with same bank there. A t  
the time that my grandfather died, he said to  his sons, possibly around 
his deathbed, ''Now, I leave my mney to  you, and you keep it a t  home." 
And they didn't .  There was an opportunity to  buy land down in  the Delta 
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of Mississippi so cheaply that Ehey bought 7,000 acres of modland in  the 
Delta of Mississippi. Uncle Will and Aunt Myra went dom to superintend 
clearing of the land--beautiful timber *ich had it ken left muld have 
made their fortune-and getting that ground into King Cotton right away, 
They had a l i t t l e  spur line hilt f r m  the railroad out to the plantation 
so the cotton could be hauled in. And I was not yet: i n  school when my 
parents took me down to visit Uncle Rll and AunE Myra. I loved it. It 
was a great challenge vhich Uncle Will loved. Much m r e  fun than looking 
after those cattle out on the ranch . . . 
Q. O r  k i n g  in the circus? 

A. Or being in  the circus. (laughs) They made a cotton gin. Uncle 
Will wuld care in and say, "Get your hats, get your hats, we're going to 
ride aut on such-and-such a part of the plantation." We muld ride off 
onto a t r a i l  through the mods over to  another part: of the plantation 
that had k e n  cleared. Maybe w muld jump over a l i t t l e  log in  the path 
with the horse. And I was given a horse to  ride--which in my mind is a 
mst beautiful horse, the mst beautiful saddle horse. O£ course it was 
an old nag. ( laughs ) But when he stepped over those logs, I thought: I 
was j q i n g .  And the horses swam across the l i t t l e  lmgue. I saw 
pictures of the old nag later, I t s  name was Dinosaurus. It was the 
wrst old nag you could ever imagine. The next year *en w =re down 
there, I had Rock Daniel who m s  a riding mule. 

Q. A riding rrule? 

A.  Yes. A riding rmle i s  very good. b e  other time in my l i f e  I had a 
chance to  ride a mle, which was considered a riding m l e ,  and it was an 
eze l len t ,  smooth ride. &It I don't h o w  that there was anything special 
about old Rock Daniel, Iutl he was mine. Those are very happy m r i e s .  

There m s  a mn FklO ran the plantation store--cdssary--who I took a 
shine to,  and he to  E. He took me out on various expeditions. Later 
h e n  ve came haw, he wrote that he captured a black squirrel. Since I 
had liked the squirrels so much, mybe he muld send it up to me. And he 
did,  For a *ile in the plant room of the house, which could be slut  off 
from the rest of the house, the squirrel had that fo r  its abode. It was 
nice and taw. 

Q. It was tame? 

A. Oh, yes, Father muld go in and it muld dive down into his pckets 
ixmdiately for nuts. And then when smmr cam, m f @red it was t a m  
enough so w could l e t  it outdoors. &It it disappeared right away. 
(laughs) I do ranember that black squirrel. 

Q. Fk was just very, very dark brom, or was he really black? 

A. Black. There %re r m y  black squirrels in that pa r t  of Mississippi 
a t  that time. Much, much later black swirrels kgan to appear in other 
places . . . in Holland, Michigan there were a few, and nowmst of them 
are black. 
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Q. I have never seen one. 

A. And then they have the white ones down a t  Olney. 

Q. Yes. Your mther was so . . . 
A. I should t e l l  you the end of the Mississippi tlhing. 

Q. Of the cotton? Okay, 

A .  It was fine for a f e w  years and then the bol l  mevil came along. 
thile chey owned this land fo r  a good m y  years after Uncle Will died 
from malaria contracted there, there had to be overseers and they =re 
far away--t:he people who omed it =re definitely absentee owners. 
Timber was stolen off by one of the overseers, others =re i n c q e t e n t ,  
and they ended up almst  losing their shirts  on the Mississippi land. 
They should have obeyed their father. 

Q. You wanted to tell ITE a b u t  Aunt Myra and the aunt that raised her? 

A. The aunt tha t  raised her came frm Coshocton, Ohio, as a young bride 
of sixteen years old or so, She c a e  by wagon, I guess, or at  least a 
horse conveyance, and in  crossing the kbash River the hag of gold that 
had been given her by her father to buy a farm i n  Illinois . . . which 
she had been carrying on her lap . . . fe l l  into the river as the wagon 
gave a lurch coming up the embatIkm;nt on the far side. So of cuurse, 
they had to get out and retrieve it and they did. That mney bought a 
farm vhich i s  now a part of Urbana. And what was her pasture is a park 
i n  U r h n a  across £run the schoolhouse. firunt Myra, when she was a l i t t le  
g i r l  i n  Coshocton and orphaned, was sent t o  live with her Aunt Margaret 
Carle on the farm k Urbana. Aunt wra used to t e l l  m as I muld have 
lunch with her i n  Waukegan abut  what an eze l l en t  cook and gardener her 
aunt had ken ,  f a m u  for her cooking. So that on the several t r ips  
that she took back t o  Ohio by stagecoach or SOTE kind of horse conveyance, 
she was particularly udxme because of the basket: of food that she took 
along. It was always especially good. (lau&ter) Her husband was a 
drover &LO drove catt:le and turkeys, of a l l  things, back Fast. I hardly 
could believe that, kt I did read afterwards that: they did drive turkeys. 

Q, Did they clip their wings? 

Q. bhy wuldn't they f l y  away? 

A. (laughter) I don't h o w .  Anyhow, her gardening also w s  particularly 
nice. bhile she was s t i l l  living on the farm there, Abraham Lincoln and 
the other lawyers sere caning t o  Urbana on the circuit. And Abraham 
Lincoln often ate at: her house. Now whether this was mals that %re 
paid for or dxther  he was a guest, I don't know. But anyhow, that 
rocker over there, wZlich by the antique dealers i s  designated a Lincoln 
rocker because it i s  like rockers i n  his house, i s  one that he wt have 
sat  in  because it ms Aunt Myra's Aunt Margaret's rocker. So it is 
appropriate that it canes back to Springfield. 
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Later she mved t o  tom and across the street from my house on Green 
Street. Aunt Myra, by that tirne, m s  grown up and becam a nurse i n  
Chicago. And l a t e r  came down and .was my motfher's nurse &en I was born. 
Then when I m s  s ix  mnths old, she married Uncle W i l l .  This is  t o  
refresh you as t o  *at the relationship is. 

Q. Yes.  

A. I think I to ld  you Uncle Ell eventually wnt to  Mississippi and he 
died when they had k e n  mrried about six years, and later Aunt Myra 
married D r .  Beasley and lived in  kukegan. 

Q. Oh, a l l  right. 

A, And that is how w ended up in the saw place. Mrs. Carle--by the 
t k  I h e w  her, her husband had been dead rnany years--later mrr ied  a 
M r .  Morris, so I knew her as Mrs. Morris. I ramnber admiring her  flow^: 
garden which was k twen  the house and the driveway across the street 
£ran us. She used t o  give us f l owrs  and give us plants. I sometimes 
wnder now *ere that garden could be because those l o t s  were so small. 
Flhy tzhese ret i red fa rmrs  d ~ o  came t o  tom,  both in Urbana and in  
Springfield, hilt on such small lo t s  when they had been used t o  so mch 
roan, I can't understand. 

Anyhow, when she died, which was during the first arid Wr,  Aunt m a  
caw dom from Whukegan and cared for  her and then cleared out her house. 
She took up to  l&ukegan t w  peony plants--white, single peony plants-- 
that  her aunt had brou&t from Coshocton, Ohio. Aunt Myra lived for a 
+ i l e  on the south s ide  of micago and they had been planted there, and 
then when she mved kukegan she took them with her and had than 
planted there. And in her l a s t  days she used to say t o  me, "Jean, if 
anything happens t o  me, I want you to  take care of my white peony plants." 
And they are out there by the front door, 

Q. So, how old are t b s e  peony plants? 

A. Isn't that interesting that  a plant can be that old? Of  course, the 
roots have been divided, kt it is  frm the original plant. I was 
writing that tale to a retired f ic t ion  ediror of The New Yorker, and he 
wrote back, "As t o  the peony plants, I knaw a s h o r t s ~ r y ~ 1  see it. " 

Q. Right. 

A. If you are s t i l l  taking -- The New Yorker, you may find a short story 
about peony plants,  

Q. bbs there something else you wanted to  t e l l  me? 

A. W l ,  speaking of The New Yorker reminds rn that after the bank 
h s ine s s ,  a f t e r  the th-tm =tely the mney h i ch  uur my father 
had given m and my s i s t e r  long before, could c m  back as a mrtgage on 
his  house and he didn't have to  sell it . . . a f t e r  a a i l e  things did 
look up again and the rmrtgage t~as  paid off.  But s t i l l ,  mney was a 
l i t t l e  t ight ,  and they =re trying t o  find ways t o  cut down on expenses. 
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By t?mt t ime  I was mr r i ed ,  and Garreta said, 'Why not rent a roan?" I 
was horrified at the idea of renting a roan t o  somebody. You could have 
guests all  you wanted, kt to  rent horrified me. But she did, and apparently 
it was a very good idea. 

She rented to  students, and m y  became very good friends. One of them 
is this ret ired edi tor-of  -- The liew Yorker, kn;i there =re ttm boys from 
Bolivia, one of wham was Jewish and French and jus t  how ke and his parents 
got t o  Bolivia, I don't how. The other one was h i s  great pal who was 
not Jewish but Viennese. His father had been in  the publishing hsiness 
in V i e n n a  and saw the writing on the w a l l .  He got: his tm boys out of 
Vienna &£ore the anschluss. my and how this one got: to  Bolivia, I don't 
laow, but anyhow they =re pals and w n t  to  an Anverican school i n  Bolivia. 
One of their teachers was a friend of my sister, and she asked Garreta t o  
give them rooms. So they lived with them for  a t  least four years, and then 
fo r  graduate wrk.  One has gone back to  South America, and the other is a 
professor in  the technical college i n  Israel, and I had a note from him just 
the other day. 

Q. &ll, renting the rooms wasn't that bad after a l l .  

A. No, it was very nice. (laughter) 

Q. Now a t  that the, your s i s t e r  m s  there alone? Your father had died? 

A. No, that  m s  before my father died. Another one is a ret i red professor 
and still living in Urbana, and he and his wife are good friends, indeed. 

Q. Che tim I+E e r e  speaking of the linden t ree  chat was blom over, 
when did your sister die? 

A. k days after my husband did. 

Q. Oh, *at a k d  t i m e  for  you. That nust have been very difficult for 
You* 

A. It was 1976. 

Q. Had she k e n  ill, too? 

A. No, she had been ill the year kfore.  She had had an operation for 
lung cancer. And it had netastisized and was liver cancer by the time 
she died, 

Q. That mst have been an awful time for you. 

A. It wasn't too good. 

Q. Can you reflect a l i t t le  on the c m i n g  role of mmen, and your 
a t t i tude  toward the m n ' s  mvement today? 

A. My at t i tude  towards it? I am grat if ied that  the role of men has 
changed. 
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Q. You fee l  wmen coming up w i l l  have a better and easier time of it? 

A. I don't h o w  if it w i l l  be easier,  but mre satisfactory. And I 
don't by any mans feel tlhats every mman now can be a doctor or  a lawyer, 
or a stenographer or a clerk . . . but I just: feel that the general 
a t t i txde  toward her should k e  one of equality. And you can put th is  on 
tape i f  you like. That I w i l l  not vote for a man who does not feel  rhat 
I am his equal under the law. (laughter) And that mans President 
Reagan. 

Q. Oh, yes. I-k los t  the debate l a s t  night and today, too. (laughter) 

A. He lost it with rrre long ago on that. 

Q. k11, I think that I am out of questions, Mrs. Yntema. I have 
enjoyed this so mch . , . 
A. W11, I have enjoyed it. It has been lo t s  of fun. 

Q. I have enjoyed meting you, and I do thank you for  your cooperation. 

A. You are w&mne. You are mst wlcane. 

End of Side One, Tape Six 


